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I. The Company 

BPI AMTC (the “Company”) is the largest trust corporation in the Philippines. As of 31 

December 2019, we administer over Php 731 billion in assets under management (“AUM”), 

serving both individual and institutional investors with a full suite of innovative local and 

global investment solutions. 

The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank of the Philippine Islands (“BPI” or 

“Parent”) and is the first among the trust departments of major local banks to have been spun 

off to a stand-alone trust corporation and authorized to conduct business as such by the Bangko 

Sentral ng Pilipinas (“BSP”) under Circular No. 710.  Coming from a 54-year history as a trust 

entity and department of BPI, we started commercial operations on 1 February 2017. 

Having the largest team of experienced investment managers and analysts exercising a strict 

multi-strategy orientation, we aim to deliver above par risk-adjusted returns over the client’s 

well-defined investment horizon.  We employ a sophisticated infrastructure for advanced 

portfolio management, risk management, and investment accounting systems, as well as 

continue to provide an active program for investment planning and funds distribution. 

We service clients across all market segments.  Of our 100,000 clients and partners, 98% are 

individual customers belonging to the private, preferred, personal and overseas Filipino 

segments.  Our institutional clients, on the other hand, comprise of top-1000 corporations, 

insurance companies, government institutions, religious groups, educational institutions, and 

employee retirement and benefit funds, among others.    

Our portfolio comprises of both domestic and global investment securities, funds instruments, 

carefully selected based on internal evaluation criteria that is backed by research and analysis.  

We are a multi-awarded fund house recognized by numerous prestigious institutions in 

the local and global investment management community. 

 

    
2019 Best Managed Fund of the Year 
• BPI Global Equity Fund-of-Funds 
• BPI Balanced Fund 
2018 Best Managed Fund of the Year 
• BPI Global Equity Fund-of-Funds 
2017 Best Managed Fund of the Year 
• BPI Global Equity Fund-of-Funds 
2016 Best Managed Funds of the Year 

• Odyssey Peso Bond Fund  

• Odyssey Philippine Dollar Bond Fund  

• Odyssey Diversified Capital Fund 

• 2019 Asset Management Company of 
the Year – Highly Commended 

• 2017 Asset Management Company of 
the Year 

• 2011-2016 Asset Management Company 
of the Year - Highly Commended 

• 2010 Best Wealth Management House 
in the Philippines 

 

2019 Best Asset Manager-Philippines 
• Money Market and Balanced 

Funds 
2019 Best Fund with the Optimal 
Information Ratio 

• Odyssey Asia Pacific High 
Dividend Equity Fund 

2016-2018 Best Asset and Fund Manager 
in the Philippines 
 

2018 Best Wealth 
Management 

Provider- Philippines 
 
 

 

  2007-2014, 2018 
Trusted Brand 

Investment Fund 
Category 

 

• 2020 Best Asset Manager – Philippines 
• 2019 Best Asset Manager – Philippines 
• 2018 Best Asset Manager – Philippines 
• 2017 Best Asset Manager – Philippines 

2018 Certification to the Asset Manager Code 
 

2016 Wealth Management of the Year 
 

 



 

BPI ASSET MANAGEMENT AND TRUST CORPORATION 3 

 20
19

 A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p

o
rt

  
II. Our Vision 

 

III. Our Mission  

We believe that investors deserve to be guided with well-thought out investment advice 

delivered by capable relationship managers, account officers, and investment advisers.  

For our individual investors, as the only asset manager providing free financial planning, we 

make investing simple and accessible so individuals can build and grow their wealth earlier 

and easier.  

For our institutional investors, for years, we aim to consistently deliver above par risk 

adjusted returns over the long term. We take pride in superior and robust investment and risk 

management processes which result in sustainable performance even through changing market 

environments. 

IV. Our Investment Philosophy 

Driving every investment decision at our organization are three fundamental principles that 

form the core of our investment philosophy. 

Long-Term Focus. We believe that superior and consistent returns can only be achieved by 

recognizing long-term trends in financial markets, and understanding the structural shifts that 

affect these trends. This focus requires a profound understanding of the interplay between 

macroeconomic factors, both global and domestic, and among different asset classes. Our 

investment approach relies heavily on quality research and information and the deep experience 

of our investment professionals who make investment decisions that best reflect our market 

views. 

Value Orientation. Our choice of investments is backed by a thoughtful and thorough 

selection process that focuses on the intrinsic value and growth potential of each investment. 

We 
are… 

…the country’s pre-eminent fund management house and trust entity. 

…the wealth manager of choice, preferred by institutional and 

individual investors alike. 

…recognized for its ability to offer and service an expanded 

and dynamic suite of multi-strategy funds and trust products, 

accessible through Omni-channels. 

…capable of delivering consistent superior returns on investments 

through prudent and active management.  
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Risk Management. Recognizing that risk inherently drives returns, we limit downside risks 

through proper analysis, monitoring, and portfolio diversification. We also acknowledge that 

our fiduciary responsibility entails providing investment solutions that match the respective 

risk profiles of our clients, expressed in terms of their willingness and ability to take risks. 

V. Our Investment Process 

Our investment process originates with the Board of Directors' periodic review of 

developments in the macroeconomic landscape and financial markets. This review is used to 

formulate investment strategies that reflect our long-term views and model portfolios covering 

a whole spectrum of risk profiles. 

With these model portfolios as guides, individual portfolios are constructed in accordance with 

clients' objectives, horizons and risk profiles, and the attendant internal, legal, and regulatory 

considerations. The allocation of fixed income and equity assets is executed to meet a 

portfolio's target duration and equity exposure. Portfolios are reviewed on a regular basis 

against corresponding benchmarks and rebalanced to realign investments with the original 

target allocation consistent with clients' goals and risk tolerance. 

VI. Trust, Other Fiduciary, and Fund Management Solutions 

Our personalized approach allows our individual clients to acquire wealth and grow them 

through solutions tailored to their unique investment requirements. 

Whether a client is just starting to invest or already have a deep understanding of investments, 

they can count on us to be there every step of the way. Our capabilities allow our clients the 

flexibility to do self-service investments via the internet, or avail themselves of our financial 

advisory and fund management expertise, all at our clients’ convenience. We have also made 

our wide array of investment products more affordable so each individual could build wealth 

earlier, easier. 

We continue to transform savings into wealth. 

As a leading trustee and investment manager for many of the top institutions in the country, we 

have a proven track record of delivering above par risk-adjusted returns that outperform 

portfolio benchmarks over the long term, earning for us our clients’ trust and gaining 

recognition from industry watchers both in the Philippines and abroad. 

We are the only domestic institutional asset manager that provides clients with access to 

financial statements for their customized investment solutions via our 24/7 online financial 

reporting system. Our clients highly regard our adherence to strong risk management standards 

which have, time and again, allowed us to stand strong and resilient even through the most 

trying economic and financial market environments. 

We strive to be a reliable investment partner to our clients, allowing them to benefit from our 

fund management expertise, gained from BPI’s 168 years of money management experience. 

We have built a strong reputation for innovation, allowing our institutional and individual 

clients to enjoy the widest selection of investment and trust products and services in the 

industry today. 
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As a full-suite trust entity, we offer a wide range of products and services and continue to 

employ bespoke trust and investment management solutions that are relevant to our clients’ 

growing investment requirements and within regulated parameters. 

We continue to dominate the passive funds management space through our diverse offerings 

of index tracker funds. As of the year ended, we are the first and only trust institution to offer 

bond index funds via our ABF Philippines Bond Index Fund and BPI Invest Philippine Dollar 

Bond Index Fund. The total net asset value of the said funds has reached over Php 16 billion 

by 2019. Moreover, our BPI Invest Philippine Equity Index Fund with net asset value of Php 

48 billion has captured close to 80% of the total net asset value of local equity index tracker 

UITFs.  

a. Trusts  

• Unit Investment Trust Funds (UITF) 

• Institutional Trust Accounts 

o Employee Benefit Plan (Pension and Provident Funds) 

o Pre-need Trust 

o Other Institutional Trust Accounts 

• Individual Trust Accounts 

o Personal Management Trust 

 

b. Agency 

• Institutional Agency Accounts 

o Employee Benefit Plan (Pension and Provident Funds) 

o Pre-need Accounts 

o Other Institutional Agency Accounts (Investment Management Account) 

• Individual Agency Accounts  

o Other Individual Accounts (Investment Management Account) 

c. Other Fiduciary Solutions 

• Personal Equity and Retirement Account (PERA) Administratorship 

• Corporate Fiduciary Accounts 

o Mortgage Trust Indenture 

o Facility/Loan Agency or Bond Trusteeship 

o Depository 

• Escrow Agency 

• Custody 

• Safekeeping 

• Court Trust 

o Executorship 

o Guardianship 

• Legislated and Quasi-Judicial Trust 

• Property Administratorship 
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d. Investment Funds 

BPI Invest Peso Funds 

• BPI Invest Short Term Fund 

• BPI Invest Money Market Fund 

• BPI Invest Premium Bond Fund 

• BPI Invest Balanced Fund 

• ABF Philippines Bond Index Fund 

• BPI Invest Philippine High Dividend Equity Fund 

• BPI Invest Equity Value Fund 

• BPI Invest Philippine Equity Index Fund 

• BPI Invest Philippine Infrastructure Equity Index Fund 

• BPI Invest Philippine Consumer Equity Index Fund 

• BPI Fixed Income Portfolio Fund-of-Funds 

• BPI Invest Catholic Values Global Equity Feeder Fund 

• BPI Invest Bayanihan Balanced Fund 

BPI Invest Dollar Funds 

• BPI Invest US Dollar Short Term Fund 

• BPI Invest Global Bond Fund-of-Funds 

• BPI Invest Philippine Dollar Bond Index Fund 

• BPI Invest Global Equity Fund-of-Funds 

• BPI Invest US Equity Index Feeder Fund (available in USD and PHP classes) 

• BPI Invest European Equity Feeder Fund 

• BPI Invest US Dollar Income Feeder Fund 

Odyssey Funds - Peso 

• Odyssey Peso Medium Term Bond Fund 

• Odyssey Peso Bond Fund 

• Odyssey Diversified Capital Fund 

• Odyssey Diversified Balanced Fund 

• Odyssey Philippine Equity Fund 

• Odyssey Philippine High Conviction Equity Fund 

Odyssey Funds - Dollar 

• Odyssey Philippine Dollar Bond Fund 

• Odyssey Asia Pacific High Dividend Equity Fund 
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VII. Financial Summary and Results of Operations 

a. Financial Summary 

  Current Year Previous Year Year-on-Year Change 

Trust, Other Fiduciary, and Investment Management Activities  

Assets Under Management 730,897,484,460 591,355,339,333 139,542,145,127 24% 

Profitability         

Total Income 2,377,189,124 2,219,489,073 157,700,051 7% 

Total Expenses 1,604,208,980 1,428,490,387 175,718,593 12% 

Income before Tax 772,980,144 790,998,686 -18,018,542 -2% 

Net Income 547,768,086 558,898,842 -11,130,756 -2% 

Select Balance Sheet Data         

Assets 3,829,189,953 3,297,881,285 531,308,668 16% 

Liabilities 348,710,265 354,824,311 -6,114,046 -2% 

Equity 3,480,479,688 2,943,056,974 537,422,714 18% 

Select Ratio         

Return on average equity 17.14% 25.29%     

Return on average assets 15.45% 21.80%     

Percentage of trust fees to total 

AUM 

0.30% 0.34%     

b. Review of Results of Operations 

Asset Under Management.  As of 31 December 2019, BPI AMTC registered a record 

growth in assets under its management of 24% year-on-year, bringing total AUM to Php 

731 billion, or a Php 140 billion increase from 2018.  This is the highest organic growth in 

AUM that we have achieved in the past 15 years of trust operations.  We attribute this to 

the collective effort of all units of the organization—from sales, marketing, investments 

management, and client support and operations—all working together to generate robust 

contributions from existing clients, fulfill the aggressive onboarding of new accounts, and 

maximize the positive changes in the market value of investments of our managed 

accounts. 

Revenues and Income.  We were able to grow our total income by Php 158 million, or a 

7% increase year-on-year, to close 2019 with Php 2.38 billion.  Our trust and management 

fees remained to be our primary source of revenues with Php 2.16 billion in 2019 which is 

91% of our total income. Our segregated portfolio products continue to provide a stable 

revenue base while our UITF products have shown strong growth potential.  Meanwhile, 

Php 217 million or 9% of our income was derived from commissions and interest income 

from our peripheral operating activities. After expenses, BPI AMTC generated Php 548 

million in net income. 

Expenses. Our operating expenses ended at Php 1.60 billion, an increase of Php 176 

million or 12% against last year driven by higher spend on manpower, lease for office 

space, and allocated technology costs. 



 

BPI ASSET MANAGEMENT AND TRUST CORPORATION 8 

 20
19

 A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p

o
rt

  
Assets. Aligned with the regulations governing trust corporations, we had maintained a 

significant portion of our assets in cash and highly liquid and low risk investments. Our 

cash position ended at Php 2.44 billion, an increase of 31% or Php 574 million year-on-

year. Meanwhile, our Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive 

Income (FVOCI) that contained our investments in government securities ended at Php 

491 million, an increase of 41% or Php 142 million against the previous year. Of our total 

investments in government securities, 76% was principally held to address regulatory 

requirements on basic security deposit for trust corporations, and the rest was held to 

address the Company’s liquidity requirements. Meanwhile, the decline in our non-current 

assets was essentially due to Php 277 million in scheduled amortization for our intangible 

assets for the year.   Our total assets ended at Php 3.82 billion, up 16% or Php 531 million 

against last year. This growth was principally derived from our accumulated net income 

for the year.  

Liabilities. Our total liabilities ended at Php 349 million for the year, a decline of 2% or 

Php 6 million, following the settlement of Php 126 million in payables to BPI for various 

allocated charges. Meanwhile, the recognition of current and non-current lease liabilities 

following the adoption of PFRS 16 resulted in an outstanding balance of Php 100 million 

in our total lease liabilities. 

Equity. We ended the year with Php 3.48 billion in equity, an increase of 18% or Php 537 

million against 2018. Our share capital and additional paid-in capital remained unchanged. 

Our total retained earnings increased by Php 548 million, of which Php 54 million was 

appropriated as reserve for trust business in compliance with existing regulations. 

c. Outlook and Strategic Initiatives 

We believe that the Philippines’ long-term macroeconomic fundamentals remain intact and 

should stand out in the long run. This should help buoy investment returns and lead to 

prime opportunities for us to capture an expanded client base across various institutional 

clients and high net worth individuals.  

Moreover, we believe that the country’s demographics and young population will continue 

to benefit from and grow together with the country’s long term development resulting to 

strategic opportunities for pooled fund managers catering to the retail space. 

Therefore, our Company aims to cultivate an agile organization that is capable of growing 

and evolving alongside the local and global investment environment and our clients’ ever 

changing requirements. We shall strengthen our capabilities to launch innovative 

investment products and services via multiple distribution channels that will cater to the 

needs of the investing public. Moreover, our investment management team shall remain 

dedicated to delivering superior risk-adjusted returns. 

In view of the declared pandemic affecting the economy and capital markets in the first 

quarter of 2020, our strategic initiatives for this and the coming years will necessarily 

include reinforcing the business continuity capabilities of the organization to make it more 

robust and resilient to disruptive occurrences.  Subject to further study, the Company is 

refocusing its business initiatives to provide employees with tools and resources that will 

allow us to continue to provide client servicing and operating support requirements even 

while mobile, to allow multi-site access to various systems to ensure uninterrupted 
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operations, and to improve its digital offerings for clients to utilize for transactional 

convenience and efficiency. 

d. Challenges, Opportunities, Responses 

The fund management industry has always been comprised of highly competitive 

institutions operating in a highly regulated environment.  

We believe that a sustainable and lasting relationship is one that is built over the long term.  

Consistency of communication and constant flow of information through market changes 

are essential to keep us and our investors connected. We believe that through active 

engagements, we are able to extend better services and educate our investors. Hence, we 

continue to improve our standard processes with the ultimate goal of enhancing and 

delivering personalized customer service to each client. 

Investing offshore has been a fast-growing space for us in the past few years.  As a proud 

pioneer in the Philippines, BPI AMTC has been at the forefront at building, developing 

and managing our platform of global funds.  With our foremost objective of bringing the 

global markets closer to our investors, we aim to provide our clients easy access to these 

vast opportunities abroad. 

Finally, we continue to devote financial resources to enhance the investing experience of 

our client-interface and digital platforms. To achieve our long-term goals, we remain 

committed to our long-term plans for investing in technology as well.  Activities to improve 

our fund distribution are being spearheaded by our Technology and Product Management 

team and are well underway. 

e. Segment Performance and Contribution 

 

Please refer to Sections VII.a. and VII.b for the summary of our business segment 

performance. Our Company has a centralized client servicing model where all clients are 

handled by its Clients Segment Division. Hence, the Company only maintains one business 

segment. 

f. Significant Developments, Major Activities, and Future Plans/Objectives 

System Improvement. BPI AMTC shares the vision of BPI to provide more advanced 

services and capabilities to clients as we also go through our own system upgrades. In 2019, 

we started working on the upgrade of the funds distribution system and in line with our 

commitment to employ state of art technology in the management of our client’s funds.  

Activities to implement the same are spearheaded by our Technology and Product 

Management team and are well underway. 

New Product Offerings. We believe in the need to constantly innovate. We continuously 

update our products and services to keep abreast with the ever-changing times, and to 

provide our clients access to domestic and international investment alternatives that cater 

to their evolving needs.  

In 2019, we launched the Peso unit class of one of our US Dollar denominated funds, the 

BPI Invest US Equity Index Fund. This will make it convenient for investors to diversify 
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their funds to global markets and US denominated outlets without the need to convert their 

local currency to US Dollars. Through this product, we hope to remove the currency barrier 

and encourage more investors to invest outside local borders. 

The Company also plans to launch thematic funds focusing on more relevant and 

sustainable businesses in the coming years.  

VIII. Risk Management Framework 

 

BPI AMTC’s risk management framework is strongly anchored on the cardinal principle of 

fidelity. It is designed to ensure that the Company’s fiduciary activities are carried out with the 

highest standard of care and clients’ assets are prudently managed. The framework enables the 

Company to effectively identify, measure, control and monitor risks associated with its 

fiduciary and investment management activities, in accordance with the key elements and basic 

principles of a sound risk management system:  active and appropriate oversight by the Board 

of Directors; adequate risk management processes, policies and procedures; appropriate risk 

measurement system, prudent risk limits, monitoring and management information system; and 

comprehensive and effective internal control system and, audit and compliance program.  BPI 

AMTC’s risk management framework continuously evolves as the business grows, as the 

market structure and regulations change, as new financial products and instruments are 

introduced in the market and as global risk management standards and best practices are 

enhanced and developed. 

 

a. Risk Management Governance Structure and Risk Strategy 

 

Risk management in BPI AMTC is a top-down process which starts with the Board of 

Directors. The Board has the ultimate responsibility of providing oversight of the 

Company’s risk management process which involves establishing strategic direction and 

providing risk tolerance standards for fiduciary and investment management activities. The 

Board fulfills its risk management function though the BPI AMTC Risk Management 

Committee (RMC), which oversees the development and implementation of the overall 

risk management program and nurtures a culture of risk management across the Company. 

The RMC defines risk appetite statements for each functional risk area and reviews risk 

management structures, metrics, limits and issues across the Company. It adopts the “three 

lines of defense” model in managing risks, which defines the risk management 

responsibilities of each unit owning and/ or managing the risk (1st line), overseeing the 

risk management function (2nd line) and providing independent assurance on the quality 

and effectiveness of risk management and controls. The RMC is supported by senior 

management, through several management committees, and the Risk Management Office, 

led by the Company’s Chief Risk and Compliance Officer. The Risk Management Office 

reports directly to the RMC and carries out the day-to-day implementation of the 

Company’s risk management program which includes the regular measurement and 

monitoring of key risk indicators and reporting of risk exposures against established limits 

and parameters. BPI AMTC continuously promotes a culture of proactive and prudent risk 

management with the Risk Management Office regularly engaging the RMC, management 

and business units, and communicating the risk awareness culture to the rest of the 

Company through various internal channels, facilitating learning programs on risk 

management and promoting best practices enterprise-wide. 

 

BPI AMTC identifies the major risks attendant to its fiduciary and investment management 

activities as Investment, and Operational and information technology risks. Investment or 
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portfolio risk, which consists of market, credit and liquidity risks, is inherent in the 

portfolios and assets that the Company manages for its clients and have a direct impact on 

clients’ earnings and/or principal investment. Market risk arises from adverse movements 

in market risk factors (such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices) while 

credit risk arises when clients’ funds are transacted with market counterparties or placed in 

debt instruments. Liquidity risk may arise from the Company’s inability to recognize or 

address changes in the clients’ funding needs or from inadequate market liquidity. 

Operational and information technology risk on the other hand, arises from inadequate and 

failed processes, people, systems or external events which may adversely affect BPI 

AMTC’s earnings and capital. Operational and information technology risk also include 

legal and compliance risks. The Company is also exposed to strategic risk, which relates 

to the formulation and implementation of business strategies and decisions and BPI 

AMTC’s responsiveness to industry changes. These risks are inter-related and failure to 

manage the same poses risks of financial losses to BPI AMTC and its clients as well as 

damage to the Company’s reputation. 

 

As risk-taking is core to the fiduciary business, BPI AMTC recognizes the importance of 

a sound and effective risk management system in the Company’s pursuit of achieving its 

goal of stable AUM and earnings growth. The Company exercises prudent risk 

management to protect its AUM and to prevent earnings instability and financial losses in 

the conduct of its operations. BPI AMTC takes reasonable and calculated risks in the 

execution of its investment management duties through a clear structure of limits and 

control parameters and compliance with agreed investment mandates. Risks taken are 

always within clients’ risk appetite and commensurate to their return objectives. The 

Company avoids unwarranted risks and aims to generate investment returns without 

exposing managed portfolios to undue risk of loss.   

 

BPI AMTC aims to ensure the health and safety of its employees and has high moral and 

ethical standards. It has no tolerance for improper business practices, fraudulent activity 

and conflict of interest. It has low tolerance for process failures and high risk audit issues. 

It aims to maintain compliance with regulatory requirements and address noted breaches 

on time. It also aims to have an effective business continuity plan that ensures critical 

processes are recovered within the defined turnaround time and with minimal impact to the 

Company, its employees and its clients. BPI AMTC does not tolerate failures from critical 

service providers of outsourced services. 

 

Investment Risk Management 

 

The Investment Risk Management Department assists the RMC in implementing the 

Company’s investment risk management program by formulating policies and procedures, 

quantifying investment risk exposures through various metrics, establishing and 

monitoring compliance to limits, as well as reporting and tracking the resolution of limit 

breaches and investment-related issues. 

 

Risk management is embedded in all phases of the investment process. Prior to the 

initiation of transactions, risks arising from new investment instruments or transactions are 

identified. Identified risks are then quantified using measurement tools and methodologies 

appropriate to the nature and complexity of transactions. 
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Factor sensitivity measures are utilized to measure the risk exposure of actively-managed 

portfolios while tracking error is used as the primary market risk measure for passively-

managed or index tracker funds. Overall portfolio risk is measured by volatility. 

 

Risk-adjusted performance measures are also monitored as a means to gauge the quality of 

returns and to facilitate proper evaluation and comparison of investment portfolios with 

varying levels of risk and return. Credit risk is measured at the issuer level and at the 

counterparty level. Issuer risk is gauged primarily through the use of published credit 

ratings and internal ratings generated from BPI’s credit risk rating system. Liquidity risk 

is likewise gauged on two levels – at the security/asset level and at the portfolio level. 

Security/ asset liquidity risk measures are defined by asset class while portfolio liquidity 

risk measures look at actual fund inflows and outflows and funding concentration. 

 

To mitigate market risk, the Company’s investment management activities are subject to 

risk limits and controls that embody the risk tolerance standards of the Board and our 

clients. All managed funds and portfolios are subject to RMC-approved aggregate limits 

and client-specified portfolio-level limits and parameters. Regulatory limits are also strictly 

adhered to. Loss triggers are also established to limit market losses. Credit risk is controlled 

through issuer and counterparty limits. Credit risk management is also heavily anchored 

on the credit approval process which covers credit evaluation and approval, as well as the 

periodic review of outstanding investments, debt issuers/borrowers and counterparties. 

Liquidity risk is mitigated by limiting portfolio investments to tradable/liquid instruments 

and setting liquid buffers based on an assessment of the client’s future funding needs and 

desired level of portfolio liquidity. Liquidity assessment forms are significant part of our 

investment accreditation process. In addition, a liquidity contingency plan is in place, 

which provides a framework for addressing liquidity crisis situations. 

 

Operational Risk Management 

 

BPI AMTC’s Operational Risk Management Department monitors our operational risk 

exposures while senior management oversight is provided by the Risk Management 

Committee. 

 

We manage our operational risks by ensuring accurate and timely identification, 

assessment, monitoring, reporting and mitigation. Key Risk Indicators are in place to 

monitor risk profiles and trigger mitigating actions. 

 

Loss events data collection provides information in identifying areas with control lapses 

and areas for improvement. An annual self-assessment is conducted to identify inherent 

and residual risks in processes and the effectiveness of controls in place. 

 

The Company adopts an effective and sustainable Business Continuity Management 

program aligned with the strategy of BPI. Our Business Continuity document includes the 

Company’s plans to ensure that critical processes are recovered until operations normalize. 

 

b. Anti-Money Laundering Compliance 

 

The prevention of financial crimes is a top priority of the Company, not only because they 

pose a significant threat to our reputation, but because they undermine the integrity of the 

global financial system. Hence, BPI AMTC’s Compliance extends its ambit beyond the 
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Company, its policies, and its employees to ensure that our clients also act within the law 

and do not use us or our structures for illegal activities. 

 

Our Board of Directors and senior management support firm-wide and BPI group-wide 

efforts towards establishing strong anti-money laundering and counter-terrorism financing 

(“AML/CTF”) assurance mechanisms and globally consistent procedures, as well as 

establishing a management structure that promotes accountability and transparency and 

upholds checks and balances. 

 

It is the ultimate responsibility of our Board of Directors to fully adhere with the applicable 

AML/CTF rules & regulations, ensures that Money Laundering (“ML”) and Terrorist 

Financing (“TF”) risks are effectively managed and that this forms part of the Company’s 

enterprise risk management system. 

 

Our senior management oversees the day-to-day management of the Company, ensures 

effective implementation of AML/CTF policies approved by the Board of Directors and 

alignment of activities with the strategic objectives, risk profile and corporate values set by 

the Board of Directors. 

 

Our Anti-Money Laundering (“AML”) Compliance Unit is responsible for the 

management of the implementation of the Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing 

Prevention Program (“MTPP”) which we observe in compliance with the Anti-Money 

Laundering Law, its implementing rules and regulations, and Bangko Sentral’s AML/CTF 

prescribed rules and regulations, as well as BPI’s anti-money laundering program covering 

subsidiaries and affiliates. 

 

Our MTPP aims to implement sound anti-money laundering practices and combat terrorist 

financing and other financial crimes. It consists of conscientious customer due diligence 

and know-your-customer (KYC) processes; technology and automated tools to identify and 

detect financial transactions of a suspicious nature; and monitoring, periodic review, and 

timely-reporting of AML/CTF events to senior management. This program also includes 

regular and effective AML/CTF training and awareness programs for all personnel; 

maintenance of customer data and transaction documents within prescribed timelines; and 

timely updates of policies and procedures in accordance with changes in regulations and 

AML/CTF typologies. 

 

To ensure compliance to the program, our AML Compliance Unit conducts periodic 

compliance checking which covers among others, evaluation of existing processes, policies 

and procedures including on-going monitoring of performance by staff and officers 

involved in ML and TF prevention, reporting channels, effectiveness of the electronic 

money laundering transaction monitoring system and record retention system through 

sample testing and review of audit or examination reports. 

 

With increasing global AML initiatives and numerous new regulations, we recognize that 

our AML processes and controls are changing from a stand-alone function to an 

increasingly complex and overarching function cutting across legal, risk and operations. 

We constantly review our program to ensure adept compliance with the latest legislative 

and regulatory developments. 

 

And to foster awareness, knowledge and understanding of AML concepts, principles and 

requirements, all employees are required to attend training programs conducted by our 



 

BPI ASSET MANAGEMENT AND TRUST CORPORATION 14 

 20
19

 A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p

o
rt

  
AML Compliance Unit or through web-based e-Learning courses available with the BPI 

in-house training academy.  

 

IX. Corporate Governance 

The Board of Directors and senior management, employees and shareholders of Company 

believe that sound and effective corporate governance is the cornerstone of BPI AMTC’s 

strength and long term existence. BPI AMTC subscribes to a philosophy of adhering to honesty, 

integrity, and professionalism in the conduct of its business, exercising prudence in arriving at 

decisions, enforcing internal discipline and a system of checks and balances in its operating 

processes, and providing transparency to its various public regarding basic management 

policies and practices, major business strategies and decisions, and its operating results.  

BPI AMTC’s practices are, thus, consistent with  Sections 131-Q, 132-Q, 133-Q, 134-Q, 136-

Q, 137-Q 118-T and other applicable provisions in the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP)  

Manual of Regulations for Non-Bank Financial Institutions (MORNBFI), Circular No. 793 

“Amendment to Align the Familial Restrictions Applicable to `Independent Director’ with the 

Existing Provision of the Securities Regulation Code (SRC)”, BSP Memorandum No. 2013-

002 “Guidelines in Assessing the Quality of Corporate Governance in BSP-Supervised 

Financial Institutions”, Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Memorandum Circular 

No. 6 s2009 “Revised Code of Corporate Governance” as amended by SEC Memorandum 

Circular No. 9 s2014 and SEC Memorandum Circular No. 24 s2019, and other relevant 

references. 

The Board of Directors and management adopt the Company’s framework of policies, rules, 

systems and processes in the corporation that governs the performance by the Board of 

Directors and management of their respective duties and responsibilities to stockholders and 

other stakeholders which include, among others, customers, employees, suppliers, regulators, 

government and the community in which it operates. The Board of Directors and management 

undertake every effort necessary to create the necessary awareness of these principles and 

practices within the organization in order to ensure proper internalization by every member of 

the organization. 

Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors bears the primary responsibility of creating and enhancing the long 

term shareholder value of BPI AMTC and ensuring that this objective is achieved in all its 

business activities. It is responsible for making statutorily identified decisions and for 

conducting oversight of the business and affairs of BPI AMTC and its management. 

It must ensure BPI AMTC’s ability to satisfy the needs of its customers, sustain its leadership 

and competitiveness, and uphold its reputation in order to maintain BPI AMTC’s long term 

success and viability as a business entity. Its mandate consists of setting the strategic business 

directions of BPI AMTC, appointing its senior executive officers, confirming its organizational 

structure, approving all major strategies and policies, overseeing all major risk-taking activities, 

monitoring the financial results, measuring and rewarding the performance of management, 

and generating a reasonable investment return to shareholders. It shall also provide an 

independent check on management. 
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It is the Board of Directors’ responsibility to foster the long-term success of the Company, and 

to sustain its competitiveness and profitability in a manner consistent with its corporate 

objectives and the best interests of its stockholders and other stakeholders. 

The Board of Directors formulate the Company’s vision, mission, strategic objectives, policies 

and procedures that shall guide its activities, including the means to effectively monitor 

Management’s performance. 

The corporate powers of BPI AMTC shall be exercised, its business conducted, and all its 

resources controlled through its Board of Directors. The powers of the Board of Directors as 

conferred by law are original and cannot be revoked by the stockholders. The directors hold 

their office charged with the duty to exercise sound and objective judgment for the best interest 

of BPI AMTC. 

Chairman 

In adherence to Sections 131-Q, 132-Q and118-T of MORNBFI, the Board of Directors of BPI 

AMTC is headed by a competent and qualified Chairman. 

Role and Independence of the Chairman 

The Chairman is a Non-Executive Director. The Board does not encourage CEO duality. The 

Chairman, who has not served as Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of BPI AMTC within the 

past three years, is separately appointed from the President and CEO (Sections 131-Q, 132-Q 

and 118-T of MORNBFI). The Chairman and the President and CEO positions are currently 

held by two individuals who are not related to each other and have defined roles and 

responsibilities that are separate and distinct, as set in the Amended By-Laws and Corporate 

Governance Manual of BPI AMTC. 

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board of Directors creates the framework within 

which the senior management team of BPI AMTC, headed by our President, steers the business. 

As stated in the BPI AMTC Corporate Governance Manual, the Chairman guides the Board of 

Directors in its decision-making process and ensures that the Board of Directors operates 

effectively as a team. The Chairman also forges a very positive and constructive working 

relationship between the Board of Directors and management. With the Chairman at the helm, 

the Board of Directors sets the BPI AMTC’s strategy and risk appetite and approves capital 

and operating plans presented by management for sustainable achievement of strategic 

objectives. 

President 

The President reports directly to, and is accountable to, the Board of Directors for the 

performance of the Company. As defined in the Corporate Governance Manual, the President 

is the overall-in-charge of the management of the business and affairs of BPI AMTC governed 

by the strategic direction and risk appetite approved by the Board of Directors. The President 

is accountable to the Board of Directors in championing the desired conduct and behavior, 

implementing strategies, and in promoting the long-term interest of BPI AMTC. 
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Board Charter 

The charter of the Board of Directors articulates and sets forth with clarity the governance and 

oversight responsibilities exercised by the directors and their roles and functions in BPI AMTC 

together with provisions on Board composition, Board committees and Board governance 

subject to the provisions of BPI AMTC’s Articles of Incorporation, By-Laws and applicable 

laws. The charter is not intended to limit, enlarge or change in a way the responsibilities of the 

board as determined by such Articles of Incorporation, By-Laws and applicable laws. 

Composition and Qualifications 

Board membership was reinvigorated in 2019 with the selection of a new Independent Director. 

A Board of nine (9) directors is deemed appropriate given the complexity of operations of the 

Company and the significant time demands placed in the directors. 

*Type of Director: Executive (ED), Non-Executive (NED), Independent (ID) 

Our Board of Directors enjoys the trust and respect of the local and international business 

community. They are established professionals who provide perspective, objectivity, practical 

wisdom, and sound judgment in their oversight, recommendations and evaluation of BPI 

AMTC’s trust and other fiduciary business as well as its investment management activities. 

As required by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), an annual report contains 

comprehensive profiles of the Board of Directors which disclose, among other information, the 

age, qualifications, date of appointment, relevant experience and directorships both in the BPI 

group as well as in other companies, listed or otherwise.  

All directors of BPI AMTC comply with all fit and proper qualifications and requirements of 

the BSP, SEC, and Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (“PSE”) and remain qualified throughout 

the one-year term. This includes required working knowledge, experience or expertise, and 

competence relevant to the industry. 

Director’s Name Type of 

Director* 

Date First 

Elected 

Date Last 

Elected 

No. of Years as 

Director of BPI 

AMTC 

Antonio Jose U. Periquet ID 11/16/2016 7/29/2019 3.5 

Ignacio R. Bunye  ID 11/16/2016 7/29/2019 3.5 

Mercedita S. Nolledo  NED 11/16/2016 7/29/2019 3.5 

Fernando  Zobel de Ayala  NED 11/16/2016 7/29/2019 3.5 

Rebecca G. Fernando  NED 11/16/2016 7/29/2019 3.5 

Cezar P. Consing  NED 11/16/2016 7/29/2019 3.5 

Jesse Ang  ID 6/29/2018 7/29/2019 1.8 

Maria Dolores B. 

Yuvienco  

ID 7/29/2019 7/29/2019 0.8 

Sheila Marie U. Tan  ED 6/29/2018 7/29/2019 1.8 
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Security Ownership of Directors and Officers 

Public trust in a company, and by the markets where its securities trade in, largely depends on 

the existence of an accurate disclosure regime that provides transparency in the beneficial 

ownership and control structures of the company. BPI AMTC understands that disclosure of 

such information is important in detecting and preventing tax evasion, corruption, money 

laundering, terrorist financing and other unlawful activities and guards against conflicts of 

interest in companies, which may have concentrated ownership and where there may be 

controlling beneficial owners with large voting blocks. None of the members of BPI AMTC’s 

Board of Directors and management owns 2.0% or more of the outstanding capital stock of the 

Company. 

As of December 31, 2019, the following are known to BPI AMTC to be directly the record 

and/or beneficial owners of BPI AMTC voting securities: 

Title of 

Class 

Name of Beneficial 

Owner 

Position           Dec. 2019 Nature of 

Ownership 

(D) Direct   

(I) Indirect 

Citizenship 

No. of 

Shares 

% of 

Holdings* 

Common Antonio Jose U. 

Periquet 

Chairman, 

ID 

1 0.00% D Filipino 

Common Ignacio R. Bunye  ID 1 0.00% D Filipino 

Common Mercedita S. 

Nolledo  

NED 1 0.00% D Filipino 

Common Fernando  Zobel de 

Ayala  

NED 1 0.00% D Filipino 

Common Rebecca G. 

Fernando  

NED 1 0.00% D Filipino 

Common Cezar P. Consing  NED 1 0.00% D Filipino 

Common Jesse Ang  ID 1 0.00% D Filipino 

Common Maria Dolores B. 

Yuvienco  

ID 1 0.00% D Filipino 

Common Sheila Marie U. Tan  President, 

ED 

1 0.00% D Filipino 

Duties and Responsibilities 

The Board of Directors bear the primary responsibility of creating and enhancing the long-term 

shareholder value of BPI AMTC, and generating reasonable and sustainable returns on 

shareholder capital by, among others, reviewing and approving the Company’s mission, vision, 

strategies and objectives; appointing senior executives and confirming organizational 

structures; approving enterprise-wide policies and procedures; monitoring business and 

financial performance; overseeing risk management framework and risk appetite, and fostering 

regulatory compliance. 
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Selection 

Following BPI AMTC’s Amended By-Laws, Manual on Corporate Governance, Board and 

Committee Charters, rules provided by the regulators (SEC, BSP and PSE) as well as the 

Corporation Code, all written nominations for directors and senior management are submitted 

to BPI Nomination Committee (“NomCom”) and BPI Personnel and Compensation Committee 

(“PerCom”), respectively. BPI AMTC’s Corporate Governance Committee assists in 

overseeing the nomination process for members of the board of directors, for senior 

management and for positions appointed by the board of directors. 

To the extent applicable, the directors are selected from a broad pool of qualified candidates. 

A sufficient number of qualified non-executive members are elected to promote the 

independence of the Board of Directors from the views of senior management. 

The election and appointment of directors and officers of BPI AMTC, which includes the 

Chairman of the Board, must also be confirmed by the Monetary Board of the BSP. Elected or 

appointed directors and officers must submit required certifications and other documentary 

proof of qualifications for the confirmation of their election or appointment. 

The nomination and election processes and their effectiveness are reviewed annually by BPI 

Nomination Committee and BPI Personnel and Compensation Committee. 

Term of Directors 

Directors are to hold office for a term of one year immediately upon their election and until the 

next election when their successor/s shall have been elected and qualified in accordance with 

BPI AMTC’s By-Laws at the next annual stockholders meeting. 

Policy on Directorships 

With a rigorous nomination process, close monitoring and reporting of Board and Committee 

meeting attendance, an annual performance evaluation which includes affirmative 

determination of time commitments and an annual review of Board Committee chairmanships 

and memberships, adequate safeguards against over boarding or over commitment are in place. 

In adherence to Recommendation 4.3 of the SEC Corporate Governance Code for Publicly-

Listed Companies, directors must notify the Board of their intention to accept a directorship in 

another company. In this respect, the Board policy on directorships currently sets twenty-five 

(25) directorships as an acceptable upper limit for board service. 

BPI AMTC directors are bound by a Director’s Code of Conduct to take into account their 

individual circumstances and the nature, scale and complexity of BPI AMTC’s activities in 

showing full commitment to BPI AMTC – devoting the time, schedule and attention necessary 

to its business interests, to properly and effectively perform their duties and responsibilities and 

to avoid conflicts of interest – and affirm in writing annually. 

A lower limit in the number of directorships would reduce the pool of interested and qualified 

director candidates and increase difficulty in finding and retaining the most effective directors. 

BPI AMTC also benefits greatly from stewardship of experienced directors who serve on other 

boards and provide guidance and independent perspective on multi-faceted issues, and 

complex, strategic concerns in asset management. 
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BPI AMTC also applies a limit of five on directorships of Non-Executive Directors and 

Independent Directors in publicly-listed companies and within conglomerates (Section 132-Q 

of MORNBFI). Application of the policy of directorships shall not impinge on or violate a 

shareholder’s ownership rights and legal right to vote and be voted upon as directors. 

BPI AMTC also complies with the relevant provisions of the Manual of Regulations for Non-

Bank and Financial Institutions on interlocking directorships. The Board of Directors regularly 

reviews interlocking board memberships to determine whether any of these create real or 

possible conflicts of interest or impair the ability of the involved directors to exercise 

independent judgment. 

Induction and Director Education 

The directors acquire appropriate skills upon appointment, and thereafter remain abreast of 

relevant new laws, regulations, and changing commercial risks through in-house training and 

external courses. 

The following table shows the training received by the Board of Directors: 

 

Directors are briefed on BPI AMTC’s background, organizational structure, and in compliance 

with Section 132-Q of MORNBFI, the general and specific duties and responsibilities of the 

Board of Directors. 

They also receive briefings on relevant policies and rules governing their roles as Directors. 

They are given an overview of the industry, regulatory environment, business of trust, strategic 

plans of the Company, its governance framework, i.e., Manual on Corporate Governance, Code 

of Business Conduct and Ethics, Board operations (schedules, procedures and processes), 

including support from the Corporate Secretary and senior management. 

Continuing education of directors includes internal meetings with senior executives and 

operational or functional heads, dedicated briefings on specific areas of responsibility within 

Director 2019 

Antonio Jose U. Periquet Corporate Governance Training conducted by Good 

Governance Advocates & Practitioners of the 

Philippines, Inc. (GGAPP) on July 17 

Fernando Zobel de Ayala 

Advanced Corporate Governance Training conducted by 

Institute of Corporate Directors on August 9 

Sheila Marie U. Tan 

Cezar P. Consing 

Rebecca G. Fernando 

Jesse O. Ang 

Ignacio R. Bunye 

Mercedita S. Nolledo 

Maria Dolores B. Yuvienco 
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the business and special presentations on current issues or regulatory initiatives with respect to 

Data Privacy, Cyber Risk and Cyber Security, the Anti-Money Laundering and Terrorist 

Financing Prevention Program, Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act, Securities Regulations 

Code, SEC memorandum circulars, and Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas, among others. 

Other internal courses, also available to senior management, include seminars and online 

courses on anti-money laundering, business continuity management, conflict of interest, risk 

management overview, and information security awareness. Directors also regularly attend 

governance fora, conferences, and summits. 

Remuneration 

The Board of Directors determines a level of remuneration and/or benefits for directors that 

shall be sufficient for their services and compensate them for attendance at meetings of the 

Board and Board Committees, and performance of numerous responsibilities and undertaking 

certain risks as a director. The compensation which may be in various forms is fixed by way of 

a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

The oversight of the remuneration and incentives policy of officers and directors of BPI AMTC 

is being done by the BPI PerCom and BPI NomCom, respectively.  

Board members receive per diems for each occasion of attendance at meetings of the Board or 

of a Board Committee. All fixed or variable remuneration paid to directors may be given as 

approved by stockholders during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting, upon recommendation of 

the PerCom. Other than the usual per diem arrangement for Board and Committee meetings 

and the aforementioned compensation of directors, there is no other standard arrangement as 

regards compensation of directors, directly or indirectly, for any other service provided by the 

directors for the last completed fiscal year. Directors with executive responsibilities within the 

BPI group are compensated as full-time officers of the Company, not as Non-Executive 

Directors. 

No director participates in discussions of the remuneration scheme for himself or herself. The 

remuneration policy is reviewed annually to ensure that it remains competitive and consistent 

with the Company’s high-performance culture, objectives, and long-term outlook, risk 

assessment and strategies. This relationship between remuneration and performance, which 

aligns remuneration of the Board of Directors with the long-term interests of the Company, is 

in adherence to Recommendation 2.4 of the SEC Corporate Governance Code for Publicly-

Listed Companies. 

In 2019, BPI AMTC’s Board of Directors, as a whole, received a total of Php 4.23 million as 

fees and other compensation for the services they rendered. 

Remuneration for our most senior officers, as reflected in the ration between fixed and variable 

components of their total compensation, changes according to performance, rank and function. 

BPI AMTC also ensures that senior management remuneration and incentives reflect prudent 

risk-taking and effective control.  

These principles of paying competitively and paying for performance applies equally to our 

Board and senior officers as it does to the rest of the Company’s employees and staff. Senior 

management and staff remuneration must reflect the interests of the shareholders and the 
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Company, and is structured to encourage the long-term commitment of the employee as well 

as long-term outlook and plans of the Company. Factors considered include revenues, volumes, 

earnings, earnings per share (EPS), Return on Equity (ROE), Return on Assets (ROA), capital 

strength, risk containment, corporate governance, customer satisfaction, adherence to corporate 

values, contributions both to operating unit and company-wide achievement. We are also 

committed to making adjustments to remuneration to reflect the challenge of attracting, 

retaining and competitively rewarding key staff with the ability, experience, skills, values and 

behaviors to deliver company goals.  

Remuneration for our most senior officers, as reflected in the ratio between fixed and variable 

components of their total compensation, changes according to performance rank and function. 

Apart from the aforementioned key performance indicators, the Company ensures that senior 

management remuneration and incentives reflect prudent risk-taking and effective control. 

Salary reviews (covering fixed and variable compensation) are done annually to ensure market 

competitiveness of the officer’s total remuneration. Other remuneration policies include: 

• All salary programs are subject to the approval of PerCom and the Board. 

• An annual merit increase may be granted upon management discretion based on 

officer’s performance. 

• Upon management’s discretion, a performance bonus may be given in a year, based on 

the performance and contribution of the individual in the attainment of the over-all 

Company goals. This is subject to the endorsement of PerCom and approval of the 

Board. 

• The Board, through PerCom, has established long-term incentive programs, the 

Executive Stock Option Plan (ESOP) and Executive Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), 

which give officers the opportunity to buy shares of stock in BPI at a discounted price. 

Meetings and Attendance 

The Board of Directors conducts business through meetings of the Board and its committees 

for the effective discharge of its obligations. Regular board meetings are convened monthly, 

held every third Wednesday of the month. Special meetings may be called for as needed. 

Items placed on the agenda of each meeting of the Board of Directors are those that have the 

most fundamental importance and broad policy implications for BPI AMTC. Directors are free 

to suggest items for inclusion in the agenda, and are free to raise at any meeting of the Board 

of Directors subjects that are not on the agenda for that meeting. At the Chairman’s discretion, 

any agenda items may also be referred for discussion in the respective Committees. 

The Chairman presides over meetings of the Board. Board and Committee meetings are 

conducted consistent with BPI AMTC’s By-Laws. 

When exigencies prevent a director from physically attending a Board or Board Committee 

meeting, facilities for telephone conferencing are made available. In instances when a director 

is unable to attend meetings even through teleconferencing due to prior commitments or 

unavoidable events, the said director provides input to the chairman so that his views can be 

known and considered. 

Minutes of Board and Committee meetings are prepared with due regard to legal requirements. 

Key points and decisions are summarized. The Board of Directors generally acts by consensus 
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rather than on an adversarial basis, so that abstentions and rare instances of formal dissent are 

duly recorded. Further, members of the Board of Directors take the initiative to have high-level 

discussions with senior management on its proposals. The Chairman of the Board likewise 

ensures that there is a fair and honest exchange of ideas and opinions by and between the 

directors and senior management in meetings of the Board of Directors. 

Discussions during meetings of the Board of Directors are open and independent views are 

given consideration. When necessary, the Board holds executive sessions to discuss highly 

sensitive matters. 

Board reference materials are made available to the directors at least five business days in 

advance of the schedule meeting. As an innovation to board governance, all materials for Board 

and Board Committee meetings are uploaded through a secure system onto individual tablet 

devices specifically provided to the directors to ensure immediate receipt and quick access.  

The Board of Directors appreciate the high level of commitment required of a director. As 

evident in the annual board self-assessment, each of the directors has sufficient time to devote 

to the conduct of his/her Board and Committee responsibilities and has contributed 

meaningfully to BPI AMTC. 

Board Meetings in 2019 were held on the following dates: 

 

 

 

 

Date of Meeting Nature of Meeting 

16 January Regular 

20 February Regular 

20 March Regular 

24 April Regular 

15 May Regular 

19 June Regular 

17 July Regular 

29 July Organizational 

14 August Regular 

18 September Regular 

16 October Regular 

20 November Regular 

18 December Regular 
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The following table shows the attendance record of the directors of BPI AMTC for 2019: 

No. of Meetings Attended in 2019 

Name of Director                          Attended / Total        In Percentage 

Board   

Antonio Jose U. Periquet  13/13 100% 

Sheila Marie U. Tan 13/13 100% 

Jesse O. Ang 12/13 92% 

Fernando Zobel de Ayala 11/13 85% 

Ignacio R. Bunye 13/13 100% 

Romeo L. Bernardo* 7/7 100% 

Cezar P. Consing 13/13 100% 

Rebecca G. Fernando 13/13 100% 

Mercedita S. Nolledo 13/13 100% 

Maria Dolores B. Yuvienco** 6/6 100% 

Audit Committee 

Ignacio R. Bunye 4/4 100% 

Jesse O. Ang 4/4 100% 

Rebecca G. Fernando 
4/4 100% 

Risk Management Committee 

Romeo L. Bernardo* 2/2 100% 

Jesse O. Ang 4/4 100% 

Cezar P. Consing 4/4 100% 

Maria Dolores B. Yuvienco** 
2/2 100% 

Corporate Governance Committee 

Romeo L. Bernardo* 2/2 100% 

Maria Dolores B. Yuvienco** 2/2 100% 

Ignacio R. Bunye 4/4 100% 

Mercedita S. Nolledo 4/4 100% 

 

*Board & Committee member until 28 July 2019 

**Board & Committee member effective 29 July 2019 
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Quorum 

As provided under BPI AMTC’s By-Laws, a majority of the members of the Board of Directors 

shall constitute a quorum for the conduct of a meeting of the Board of Directors. Any meeting 

for the transaction of corporate business, and every decision of a majority of the quorum duly 

assembled as a Board shall be valid as a corporate act, unless otherwise provided in the By-

Laws. 

Access to Information 

The Board has separate and independent access to the Corporate Secretary, who serves as 

adviser to the directors on their responsibilities and obligations and oversees the adequate flow 

of information to the Board prior to meetings. To provide directors with all the information and 

assistance necessary to prepare for meetings or obtain clarification for any relevant matters, 

this access to the Corporate Secretary is unhampered, unlimited and direct. Directors may 

simply request such information by phone, email, written communication or in person, from 

the Corporate Secretary who in turn will give them all information and assistance they will 

need to prepare for the meeting or clarification of any relevant matters. 

Our management also ensures adequate flow of information to the Board of Directors. This 

information may include the background or explanatory information relating to matters to be 

brought before the Board, copies of disclosure statements and related documents, budgets, 

forecasts and monthly internal financial statements. 

All directors also have unrestricted access to company records and information in addition to 

receipt of regular detailed financial and operational reports from senior management. 

Role of the Corporate Secretary 

Our Corporate Secretary, who is a senior, strategic-level corporate officer is not a director and 

is separate and independent of the person of the person of the Chief Compliance Officer. She 

plays a leading role in Company’s corporate governance, and as such, attends corporate 

governance training annually. The Corporate Secretary’s functions are as follows: 

• Serves as an adviser to the directors on their responsibilities and obligations; 

• Keeps the minutes of meetings of stockholders, the Board, and all other committees in 

a book or books kept for that purpose, and shall furnish copies thereof to the Chairman, 

the President and other members of the Board as appropriate; 

• Keeps in safe custody the seal of BPI AMTC and affixes it to any instrument requiring 

the same; 

• Has charge of the stock certificate book and such other books and papers as the Board 

may direct; 

• Attends to the giving and serving of notices of Board and shareholder meetings; 

• Be fully informed and be part of the scheduling process of other activities of the Board; 

• Prepares an annual schedule of Board meetings, including the regular agenda, and puts 

the Board on notice of such agenda at every meeting; 

• Oversees the adequate flow of information to the Board prior to meetings. Materials 

for approval or information shall be given to the members of the Board in advance 
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prior to the date of the meeting to give them chance to study and ask questions if 

necessary, even before the meeting itself; and  

• Ensures the fulfilment of disclosure requirements to the SEC and PSE. 

Our Corporate Secretary is suitably trained and experienced in legal and company secretarial 

practices and is professionally qualified for these responsibilities. The present Corporate 

Secretary possesses the legal skills of a chief legal officer whose training is complemented by 

business, organizational, human relations and administrative work skills. Our Corporate 

Secretary is also the Corporate Secretary of the Bank and various BPI subsidiaries and 

affiliates. 

See Appendix A for the full biography of our Corporate Secretary. 

Performance Evaluation and Self-Assessment 

The Board of Directors annually conducts a self-assessment to ascertain the alignment of 

leadership fundamentals and issues, validate the Board’s appreciation of its roles and 

responsibilities and confirm that the Board possesses the right mix of background and 

competencies. 

Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors, under the guidance of the Corporate Governance Committee, 

thoroughly reviews its performance, measured on the basis of what it delivers and how it 

delivers, how it meets its responsibilities to its stakeholders, and how it addresses issues that 

impact the Board’s ability to effectively fulfil its fiduciary duties. 

Using a widely-advocated standard evaluation method of self-assessment and feedback review, 

performance is assessed across four levels: the Board as a body, Board Committees, individual 

Directors, and President. Key evaluation criteria are built on the Board’s terms of reference and 

committee charters, and framed around broad leadership fundamentals and best practices. 

The Corporate Governance Committee processes and tabulates the results of the self-

assessments and communicates them to the Board. Areas for improvement are discussed by the 

Board, in order to agree on remedial actions. The Corporate Governance Committee may also 

develop recommendations and action plans for the Board, whenever necessary and desirable. 

 Process Criteria 

 

Board of 

Directors 

 

Self-Assessment by all directors 

 

1. The Board of Directors shall be given 

sufficient time to accomplish the self-

assessments. 

 

a. Each individual director 

performs the four (4) levels of 

self-assessment using the 

prescribed forms, applying the 

 

1. Strategy and Effectiveness 

 

2. Structure and Committees 

 

3. Meetings and Procedures 

 

4. Board and Management Relations 

 

5. Succession Planning and Training 

 

6. Performance Evaluation 
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 Process Criteria 

rating scale and predetermined 

evaluation criteria for each level. 

 

b. For the Board and Committee-

level assessments, while the 

directors will be rating the board’s 

or committee’s performance as a 

body, the accomplishment of the 

assessment forms is meant to be 

done individually, on a per 

director basis. This is to secure an 

honest, unbiased, independent 

and anonymous view from each 

director rather than a collective 

assessment that may already be 

subject to filtering and pre-

agreement. 

 

2. Each director shall submit the 

completed forms on or before the deadline 

set by the Corporate Governance 

Committee or at such earlier or later date 

as the Board of Directors may agree upon. 

 

The Corporate Governance Committee 

processes the results ofthe assessments 

and communicates this to the board 

through a Summary Report. 

 

7. Value Creation 

 

General and specific leadership standards 

under the above criteria are considered in 

evaluating the Board as a body such as: 

 

Adequacy of the processes which monitor 

business performance; board member 

interaction with management; adequacy of 

board knowledge; appropriateness of 

balance and mix of skills; size of board; 

contribution of individual board members; 

board’s effectiveness in use of time; if board 

allows sufficient opportunity to adequately 

assess management performance; board’s 

ability to keep abreast of developments in 

wider environment which may affect BPI; 

working relationship between chairman and 

chief executive officer; segregation of duties 

between board and management; ability of 

directors to express views on each other and 

to management in constructive manner and 

other relevant criteria. 

 

Board 

Committees 

 

A. Self-Assessment by all Directors 

 

B. Submission of Accomplishment 

Reports to the Board by the different 

committees. In addition, the Audit 

Committee submits the “Self-Assessment 

in the Performance of the Audit 

Committee” to the SEC. 

 

General and Specific factors relating to 

Committee organization, meetings, 

processes and procedures and overall 

effectiveness. 

 

1. Committee role 

 

2. Committee membership 

 

3. Procedure and practice 

 

4. Committee structure 

 

5. Collaboration and style 

 

6. Personal 

 

A sampling of factors under the above 

criteria include: Use of committee time; 

adequacy of committee papers and 

frequency of meetings; ability to access 
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 Process Criteria 

resources; ability to keep informed in 

relevant area; provision for continued 

development; working relationship between 

committee chairman and members; 

segregation of duties between committee 

and management; ability of directors to 

express views on each other and to 

management in a constructive manner and 

other relevant criteria. 

 

Individual 

Director 

 

Each director is required to fill-up a Self-

Assessment Form annually 

 

1. Leadership, Vision, Mission and Values 

 

2. Effective Governance 

 

3. Strategic Thinking and Decision Making 

 

4. Teamwork 

 

5. Fulfilment of the Bank’s Governance 

Attendance 

 

President 

 

Each director fills up an evaluation form 

based on the relevant criteria. These are 

then submitted to the Chairman. The 

President’s performance is also evaluated 

at least once a year by the Personnel and 

Compensation Committee and Executive 

Committee. 

 

1. Leadership 

 

2. Working with the Board 

 

3. Managing Execution 

 

4. Communication/External Relations 

 

Please see Appendix A for the biographies of our Board of Directors. 

Senior Management 

BPI AMTC’s Corporate Governance Committee oversees the performance evaluation process 

within BPI AMTC as performed by PerCom which includes the annual review and approval of 

corporate goals, strategic objectives and standards to senior management and key officers of 

the Company. Performance is generally measured on the performance of the officer, a business 

unit, or the Company as a whole or using a combination of all as the officer’s responsibilities 

may dictate.  

The performance management framework considers goals or actual results of a given period’s 

business objectives and core competencies. It also looks into the behavior, technical 

competencies and soft skills exhibited by the officer during the period under review, as well as 

fitness and propriety. The performance of control function heads for audit, risk management 

and compliance are also evaluated by the Audit Committee and Risk Management Committee.  
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The framework also follows a performance management cycle: Goal Setting, Performance 

Monitoring, Performance Appraisal, Performance Reinforcement and Performance 

Improvement. 

The Board of Directors conducted its 2019 annual performance evaluation early in 2020. 

Directors assessed that the Board of Directors had performed its duties and responsibilities 

effectively for the past year and that there were no material issues with respect to its 

membership, governance and operations. 

Succession Planning and Talent Management 

The Board of Directors is committed to a process of orderly succession. It acknowledges that 

a succession plan for the Board and for its leadership positions is in the best interest of BPI 

AMTC and its stakeholders who value the continuity in leadership. Leadership changes are not 

only carefully considered and planned, but are also part of a comprehensive risk management 

strategy that is guided by the clear and transparent governance policies, processes and laws. 

Board Succession 

In this regard, composition of the BPI AMTC Board of Directors is regularly refreshed in a 

continuing cycle. BPI AMTC’s Corporate Governance Committee oversees the general board 

succession plan framework prepared by the NomCom to ensure that: (1) appropriate 

governance processes are in place and ongoing, for identifying, assessing and monitoring future 

needs of the Board; (2) there is continuity and transfer of knowledge in the Board so that it may 

effectively fulfil its roles and responsibilities to the Company; and (3) the Board is taking a 

prudent and structured approach to managing succession risk. 

The NomCom facilitates the annual review and assessment of the structure, size and 

composition of the Board and Board-level committees. The Committees take into consideration 

the current strategy and business of the Company, comparative benchmark and peer group 

analysis. They also determine if there is a reason to believe that one or more director slots shall 

become vacant in the following term of the Board of Directors or within the next 12 months 

after the current year’s Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. In addition, the NomCom considers the 

long-term strategic goals and directions as well as requirements of the Company, the Bank and 

other companies in the BPI Group, moving forward. BPI AMTC Corporate Governance 

Committee may also review the Board’s forecasted membership requirements over the next 

three to five years, based on factors such as directorship limits for publicly listed companies 

and registered issuers, retirement policy for directors, and term limits for independent directors. 

The Board, through NomCom, also considers candidate directors with respect to their skills, 

engagement and past or present work or board experience.  

Senior Management Succession 

BPI AMTC’s Corporate Governance Committee oversees the succession planning done by the 

PerCom which involves management of talent pipeline and assembly of required personnel 

capable of navigating such changes. The PerCom reviews BPI AMTC’s talent development 

process for proper management. Senior management provides a report to this Committee on 

the results of its talent and performance review process for key management positions and other 

high-potential individuals. Aside from ensuring that there is a sufficient pool of qualified 

internal candidates to fill senior leadership positions, this review process identifies 
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opportunities, performance gaps and proactive measures in the Company’s executive 

succession planning. As part of the same executive planning process, the Committee as a whole 

or a part thereof, in consultation with the Board of Directors and the President, evaluates and 

nominates potential successors to the President.  

Retirement Policy 

The best interests of BPI AMTC are served by retention of directors that make very meaningful 

contributions to the Board of Directors and the organization, regardless of age. It is the 

Company’s strong view that with age often comes unmatched wisdom and experience, expert 

business judgment, invaluable industry and community relations and authority, and deeply 

ingrained appreciation of the principles of corporate governance. 

BPI AMTC believes that imposing uniform and fixed limits on director tenure is counter-

productive as it may force the arbitrary retirement of valuable directors. 

Nevertheless, BPI AMTC has set a retirement age for directors at 80 years old. In specific 

cases, the Board, in mutual agreement with the director, may opt to postpose said director’s 

retirement depending on the following conditions: 

i. Consistent and robust application of more dynamic and constructive corporate 

governance practices such as the annual Board’s performance evaluation, regular 

succession planning, an exhaustive nomination process, and annual Fit and Proper 

assessment for more board refreshment. 

ii. The Board shall also evaluate all facts and circumstances when considering a director's 

tenure in accordance with good governance practices, including (without limitation) to 

accommodate the transition of a new CEO or new directors or to provide continuity to 

further strategic objectives or address external factors affecting BPI AMTC. 

Term limits of Independent Directors are set at a maximum cumulative term of nine (9) years 

as prescribed in Section 131-Q of MORNBFI and SEC Memorandum Circular No. 9 Series of 

2011 and No. 4, Series of 2017.  

Retirement of senior management is done with the requisite succession planning and in 

accordance with BPI AMTC’s policies and implementing guidelines of its retirement plan for 

all employees, BPI AMTC’s By-Laws, Labor Code and the Corporation Code of the 

Philippines. Currently, the retirement age for employees of BPI AMTC is set at 60 years of 

age. 

INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONTROL 

The BPI Internal Audit Division is an independent body that supports the Audit Committee in 

fulfilling its oversight responsibilities by providing an objective assessment on the adequacy 

and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management, internal controls, and governance 

processes through well- established risk based audit plans. Internal Audit also ensures that the 

Company’s operating and business units adhere to internal processes and procedures and to 

regulatory and legal requirements. The assessment of controls, systems, and processes of the 

Company is covered by the annual audit work plan, which is developed using the audit risk 

assessment model reviewed and approved by the Board through the Audit Committee.  
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This unit reports directly to the Audit Committee. It collaborates with other assurance providers 

such as the risk management office, compliance office and external auditors. Through this 

system for the comprehensive monitoring and review of risks and compliance in the institution, 

the Board ensures that the Company and all business units proactively manage the risk and 

compliance exposures impacting the business. 

The Audit Committee also ensures that the Internal Audit Division undergoes an external 

quality assessment review (EQAR) to confirm that audit activities conform to the International 

Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and Code of Ethics. The program 

includes periodic internal and external quality assessments and ongoing monitoring of the 

performance of the internal audit activity. Periodic internal assessments are conducted 

annually, while external quality assessments are conducted at least once every five years by a 

qualified independent validator. Internal Audit maintained its “generally conforms” ratings on 

both internal and external assessments, which indicate that its activities have continuously 

conformed to professional standards, code of ethics, and other internal standards.  

Internal Audit Charter. The internal audit function as empowered by the Internal Audit Charter 

includes free access to all records, properties, and personnel. In this respect, the Audit 

Committee reviews the internal audit function, including its independence and the authority of 

its reporting relationships. The Internal Audit Division continuously improves the capabilities 

of its auditors through continuous education on specialized areas of knowledge, auditing 

techniques, regulations, and trust products and services. As stated in the Manual on Corporate 

Governance, the Board, thru the Audit Committee, periodically reviews and approves the 

Internal Audit Charter.  

Chief Audit Executive. The Internal Audit Division is headed by a Chief Audit Executive 

(CAE) who is appointed by the Board. The CAE reports functionally to the Board through the 

Audit Committee and is the designated auditor for BPI and its subsidiaries. The CAE has 

unrestricted access to all functions, records, property, and personnel. Additionally, the Audit 

Committee ensures that the CAE has access to the Board, on a confidential basis, and that the 

Internal Audit Division is independent of company management, both by intent and actual 

practice.  

Independent External Auditor. The Audit Committee recommends to the Board the 

appointment of a BSP-accredited external auditor for the purpose of preparing or issuing an 

audit report or other related work. The appointment, re-appointment, and removal of the 

Company’s external auditor is subject to the approval and endorsement by the Audit 

Committee, for subsequent confirmation and approval by the Board and, finally, the 

stockholders.  The engagement of the external auditor is also done pursuant to the General 

Requirements of Section 164-Q of MORNBFI, as amended by BSP Circular No. 1040, Revised 

Framework on the Selection of External Auditors dated May 20, 2019.  

The Audit Committee also assesses the external auditor’s effectiveness, independence, and 

objectivity, ensuring that key partners and quality control partners of the audit firm are rotated 

in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

in the Philippines as adopted by the Philippine Board of Accountancy. The Committee also 

reviews the external auditor’s annual plan, scope of work, and, in consultation with 

management, approves the external auditor’s term of engagement and audit fees. They also 

oversee the resolution of disagreements between management and the external auditors in the 

event that these arise. 
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The Audit Committee ensures suitability and effectiveness of the external auditor through the 

following: 

1) No external auditor can be engaged by the Company if he has any direct or material indirect 

financial interest in the Company, or if his independence is considered impaired under 

circumstances specified in the Code of Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountants. In 

the case of partnership, this limitation shall apply to the partners, associates, and the auditor-

in-charge of the engagement. 

2) The external auditor and the members of the audit team adhere to the highest standards of 

professional conduct, integrity, and objectivity. 

The external auditor reviews and discusses the financial statements and reports, including 

results of operations, with Management and the Internal Auditor, and endorses the same to the 

Board for approval.  

COMPLIANCE 

The Company views compliance to mean not only adherence to laws, regulations, and 

standards but, more importantly, the consistent conduct of the affairs of the Company within a 

culture of high integrity, conforming to ethical business practice, abiding by the principles of 

fair dealing, accountability, and transparency. This ensures that in all its areas of activity, the 

Company and its stakeholders are protected from business risks as comprehensively as 

possible. The Company values its reputation most and the fact that it is trusted by its 

shareholders, clients, employees, partners, and members of the communities it serves. 

As the Company’s second line of defense, the compliance function has also evolved in recent 

years to adapt to the shift towards more technology-heavy strategies, as it seeks to deliver the 

compliance risk management outcomes required in an era of digital transformation. While 

remaining a key advisory function, it has embraced a more forward-thinking, risk-based, and 

stress-tested approach to continuously monitor, evaluate, and improve its ability to ensure 

compliance in a trust business landscape that is subject to disruption and rapid change.  

Chief Compliance Officer. Oversight of the management of the Company’s business risk and 

implementation of its compliance function is the responsibility of the Board, through the 

Corporate Governance Committee and Audit Committee. At the management level, the 

compliance function is carried out by the Compliance Department, led by the Chief Compliance 

Officer (CCO). Designated by the Chairman of the Board, the CCO is not a member of the 

Board and has the rank of at least a Vice President. The CCO’s qualifications are subject to the 

applicable provisions of the Manual of Regulations for Non-Banks and Financial Institutions, 

particularly considering Fit and Proper criteria such as integrity or probity, competence, 

education, diligence, and experience and training. The CCO annually attends training on 

corporate governance. 

The Compliance Department oversees the implementation of the Company’s enterprise-wide 

compliance programs. These programs take into account the size and complexity of the 

Company, the relevant rules and regulations that affect its operations, and the business risks 

that may arise due to non-compliance. By using regulatory and self-assessment compliance 

matrices, compliance measures are formulated to mitigate identified business risks and tested 

to ensure effectiveness. 
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The Compliance Office routinely provides advice to individual business units on applicable 

laws, directives, standards, and regulations as well as provides compliance support to the 

business units. It jointly develops guidance on operations and business processes in order to 

guard against potential compliance risk, and reviews and assists in interpretations of laws, 

implementing rules and regulations, standards and guidelines of the BSP, SEC, Anti- Money 

Laundering Council (AMLC), PSE, Insurance Commission (IC), National Privacy 

Commission (NPC), and other regulatory bodies for compliance, communicating them and 

verifying adherence. 

The Compliance Department also helps achieve adherence to the Company’s internal 

confidentiality regulations (“Chinese Walls”); provides regular training and education for 

employees on the applicable regulations, rules, and internal standards; and leads the Company 

in compliance risk assessment, rules-based testing and reporting. 

The Compliance Department is currently organized to cover Regulatory Compliance, 

Corporate Governance, Anti- Money Laundering Compliance, FATCA Compliance and the 

Data Privacy Office. Considering the rapid developments in the regulatory sphere, as well as 

the growing complexity of the Company’s products, services, and transactions, the Compliance 

Department evolves in its coverage of compliance practice areas to anticipate and meet future 

challenges. Enhancement of our compliance function’s scope and domain is redefined for new 

and emerging sources of compliance risk. 

The Compliance Department conducts independent compliance testing on various regulations. 

Results of compliance testing are reported regularly to the Compliance and Risk Committee, 

Audit Committee and Board. Overall enforcement is through self-regulation within the 

business units, and independent testing and reviews conducted by the Compliance Office and 

Internal Audit. 

Results of these reviews are elevated to the Board’s Audit Committee and, with respect to 

governance issues, the Corporate Governance Committee. 

The Compliance Department promotes adherence and awareness to laws, rules, and regulations 

by electronically posting information and documents in a compliance database that is accessible 

to all employees. Regular meetings are conducted by the Compliance Department with the 

business units to discuss the impact of new regulations, decide on the required compliance 

measures, and amend compliance matrices as necessary. Through continued liaison and 

dialogue with regulators, the Compliance Department ensures the prompt dissemination of new 

regulations and other developments affecting trust operations. 

The Compliance Department covers adherence to all relevant and applicable Philippine trust 

laws and regulations. They are in charge of regulatory compliance management with respect to 

the BSP’s institutional compliance rating system, which comprehensively evaluates the 

effectiveness of a company’s compliance system in mitigating business risk. This also covers 

the compliance aspect of the Company’s corporate governance framework and requirements 

externally, with respect to the laws relevant and applicable to BPI AMTC as a trust corporation 

and the rules and regulations of the BSP, SEC, and internally, with respect to BPI AMTC’s 

Articles of Incorporation, Amended By-Laws, Manual on Corporate Governance, Code of 

Business Conduct and Ethics, and all corporate governance-related policies such as those on 

conflict of interest standards, insider trading, whistleblower, related party transactions and anti-

bribery and anti-corruption. 
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Partnership-building with the regulators, external auditor, and industry organizations (Trust 

Association of the Philippines, Association of Bank Compliance Officers and the Bankers 

Institute of the Philippines) is also essential in regulatory compliance management. 

Republic Act No. 10173, known as the Data Privacy Act of 2012, requires government and 

private sector entities to apply the principles of Transparency, Legitimate Purpose, and 

Proportionality in its processing of personal data so that the data is (1) only used in relevant 

and specifically stated ways, (2) not stored for longer than necessary, (3) kept safe and secure, 

(4) used only within the confines of the law, and (5) stored following people’s data protection 

rights. Cybersecurity and data privacy and protection have become corporate governance and 

risk management concerns. 

BPI AMTC has established a comprehensive Data Privacy Program utilizing a combination of 

policies, organizational structure, access controls, and technologies designed for risk reduction. 

The Company has a Data Privacy Office, headed by a Board-appointed Data Protection Officer 

(DPO), a senior management officer. The key focus of the DPO is to oversee data privacy 

compliance and manage data protection risks for the organization, consistent with the Data 

Privacy Act rules and regulations, issuances by the NPC, and other applicable laws. 

Management has also appointed a Compliance Officer for Privacy (COP) to augment the Data 

Privacy Office and ensure the sustained implementation of the Data Privacy Management 

Program to the business.  To promote transparency and to comply in part with the Data Privacy 

Act, BPI AMTC has published online the Data Privacy Statement that discloses how BPI 

AMTC collects, protects, uses, and shares personal data across its operations. 

The Company’s Data Privacy Statement may be read at www.bpiassetmanagement.com. 

COMPANY POLICIES AND STANDARDS 

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 

BPI AMTC has a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (“the Code”) which provides as guide 

to employees of the Company in meeting ethical duties and responsibilities in compliance with 

the implemented rules and regulations of the industry. The codes serve as guidance so that the 

right decisions are made in the performance of their respective roles and responsibilities across 

various functions in the Company. 

The Code also includes guidance on care for the environment, labor rights, customer service 

and protection, commitment to human rights, the right to privacy, anti-bribery and anti-

corruption. The Code is a declaration of principles and, more so, a vital part of BPI AMTC’s 

risk management strategy.  

Through the Code, BPI AMTC desires to: (1) build a culture of integrity, accountability, and 

ethical behavior that encourages employees to abide by the Code and strive to protect the 

Company’s reputation; (2) establish a system for detection and reporting of known or suspected 

ethical wrongdoing or violations of the Code, and; (3) emphasize BPI AMTC’s commitment 

to compliance with regulatory guidelines, rules, and laws. 

The Code is applicable to and mandatory for all employees at all levels of BPI AMTC. All 

employees are required to follow both the spirit and the letter of the Code, its policies, and 

procedures. Annually, all BPI AMTC employees are required to read, understand, acknowledge 
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and comply with the Code, as well as the Manual of Corporate Governance. All others who 

work for, or on behalf of BPI AMTC, are also required to demonstrate the highest standards of 

professional business conduct. In general, this includes consultants, agents, contract or 

temporary workers, and business partners.  

Among others, BPI AMTC’s codes of conduct and policies on conflict of interest, insider 

trading, whistleblower, related party transactions, and other guidelines are embodied in the 

Manual on Corporate Governance. BPI AMTC policies are also regularly announced via 

internal e-mail facility to ensure constant top-of-mind awareness of employees of the need to 

comply with these policies. Employees are provided copies of policies for annual affirmation 

and acknowledgement. Directors are also provided with hard copies as well as electronic copies 

of the Code for their annual affirmation. 

THE CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS 

OUR CLIENTS 

Values at work: Customer Service, Teamwork, Concern for People 

● Building Client Relationships 

● Safeguarding Privacy and Security of Client Information 

● Promoting and Strengthening Consumer Protection 

● Managing of Investment Processes and Disclosures 

OUR EMPLOYEES 

Values at work: Integrity, Excellence, Teamwork, Loyalty 

● Adhering to Company Rules and Workplace Policies 

● Creating Dignity and Unity in the Workplace 

● Contributing to Workplace Health & Safety 

● Following Limits of Authority 

● Avoiding Conflicts of Interest 

● Protecting Assets, Facilities and Properties of BPI AMTC and Others 

● Recognizing Privacy of Employee Information 

OUR SHAREHOLDERS 
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THE CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS 

Values at work: Integrity, Excellence, Teamwork, Loyalty 

● Upholding BPI AMTC’s Reputation, Service Quality and Trust 

● Transparency, Liaison and Coordination with Regulators 

● Maintaining Company Records and Reporting Requirements 

● Supporting Investors and the Market 

● Encouraging and Assisting Whistleblowing 

● Handling Related Party Transactions 

OUR COUNTRY 

Values at work: Integrity, Excellence, Teamwork, Concern for 

People 

● Compliance with KYC, Anti-Money Laundering and FATCA Regulations 

● Preventing Insider Trading 

● Enforcing Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery 

● Dealing with Suppliers and Business Partners 

● Caring for Sustainability and Communities 

Conflict of Interest 

The personal interest of directors and employees of BPI AMTC should never prevail over the 

interest of the institution, its clients or business partners. They are required to be loyal to the 

organization so much so that they may not directly or indirectly derive any personal profit or 

advantage by reason of their position in the Company. BPI AMTC has in place standards on 

conflict of interest that elevate the interest of the Company above that of the personal interests 

of directors, officers, and employees. These standards prohibit directors and employees from 

using their position of authority or rank to directly or indirectly derive personal gain or 

advantage.  

Our standards on conflict of interest expect all directors and employees to refrain from any 

conduct that could be viewed unfavorably by the Company’s clients, co-employees, 
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competitors, suppliers, investors, regulators, or the public. The standards also require full 

cooperation and provision of complete and accurate information from employees during 

government, regulatory or internal enquiries, investigations, and audits. Directors are required 

to disclose any conflicts of interests such as cross-board memberships, cross-shareholdings 

with suppliers and other stakeholders, and related party issues. See Appendix A for Board 

biographies. 

The standards also cover specific conflict-of-interest situations such as receipt of gifts from 

third parties, respect for trade secrets, use of non-public information, and use of company funds, 

assets, and information. 

Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption 

BPI AMTC has an Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy that guides BPI AMTC, and its 

directors, officers and employees in realizing their responsibilities and understanding the 

consequences of bribery and corruption in workplace. The Company puts the highest premium 

on sound, responsible, and effective corporate governance and has zero tolerance for bribery, 

corruption or improper acts of any kind in fulfilling its role as a trusted institution providing 

trust and other fiduciary investments and investment management services.  

Aligned with BPI AMTC’s commitment to act fairly and with integrity in all business dealings 

and relationships, the Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy complements the Company’s 

financial crime policies and programs such as the Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing 

Prevention Program (MLPP) and Whistleblower Policy. 

Insider Trading 

The Insider Trading Policy of BPI AMTC prohibits its covered persons or directors, employees 

and other parties from participating in any trade of a security while in possession of material 

non-public information regarding said security for the client/s and for their own personal 

accounts.  

Covered persons are strictly prohibited from trading during periods of structured and non-

structured disclosure (trading blackout). This prohibition includes passing on material and non-

public information relating to BPI AMTC or its clients to anybody who may buy or sell 

securities. A trading blackout prohibits trading once the covered person receives material 

information before a structured or unstructured disclosure. Trading can only be done after said 

disclosure. 

Office bulletins are regularly issued by the Compliance Office before, during, and after trading 

blackout periods to ensure compliance with the Insider Trading Policy.  

The Company expects every director, officer, and employee, including related covered persons, 

to comply with the Policy, and to use honesty and good judgment at all times when trading in 

the Company’s securities. 

Violation of the policy shall be subject to disciplinary action/s as stated in Parent Bank HR’s 

Personnel Policies on Employee Relations and as may be determined by management or the 

board of directors of BPI AMTC which may include dismissal. 
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Whistleblowing 

The Whistleblower Policy addresses the commitment of BPI AMTC to integrity and ethical 

behavior by helping to foster and maintain an environment where whistleblowers can act 

appropriately, without fear of retaliation.  

The policy is applicable to any employee of BPI AMTC and covers any wrongful act that 

adversely impacts BPI AMTC, its customers, shareholders, officers, employees, investors, or 

the public at large. BPI AMTC ensures that there is a process by which the communication of 

legitimate concerns about illegal, unethical or questionable practices are verified, investigated 

and addressed without fear of retaliation or reprisal. 

The whistleblower may approach the Chief Risk and Compliance Officer who is the designated 

contact for the Company and the primary reporting line. Under extraordinary circumstances, 

the whistleblower may also course the complaint through other reporting lines, like the 

President or Board of Directors.  

Upon receipt of the whistleblowing report, the personnel or officer to whom the report was 

disclosed shall then immediately refer the matter and deliver all information and documents 

that may be transmitted to him/her to the designated officer, or the President, or Internal Audit, 

as applicable, who shall thereafter immediately initiate investigation. 

The Whistleblower Policy emphasizes the Company’s commitment to non-retaliation. It fosters 

and maintains an environment of utmost confidentiality where all whistleblowers may act 

appropriately without fear of reprisal, and be treated with utmost confidentiality. An individual 

who makes a protected disclosure shall not suffer harassment, retaliation, or adverse 

employment consequences. Any person who retaliates against any individual who makes a 

protected disclosure shall be subject to discipline, including termination. 

In case the whistleblower believes he has been subjected to retaliation, he may seek redress or 

file a formal complaint to the three primary contacts for whistleblowing. 

Related Party Transaction 

In the normal course of business, BPI AMTC transacts with related parties which include its 

directors, officers, stockholders and related interest, the Company and its parent bank and 

affiliates (including those under the Ayala group of companies), as well as other related parties 

defined in the BPI AMTC’s internal policy. 

These transactions involve credit and non-credit exposures for which related parties are 

perceived to have significant influence. As part of BPI AMTC’s efforts to ensure that 

transactions with related parties are normal trust activities and are done at arm’s length 

(particularly, on terms and conditions comparable to those offered to non-related parties or to 

similar transactions in the market), vetting is done either by the Bank’s Board-level Related 

Party Transaction Committee (BPI RPTC) or the BPI AMTC Management Vetting Committee 

(BPI MVC), depending on materiality, prior to implementation. Transactions with related 

parties whose individual and group exposures, existing or potential, amounting to equal or 

above the material threshold of Php50M are vetted by the BPI RPTC.  Other transactions below 

the material threshold are vetted by the BPI MVC. 
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The BPI RPTC is composed of three directors, majority of whom are independent including its 

chairman, and two non-voting members from management of the Bank, the Chief Audit 

Executive and the Chief Compliance Officer, both of whom perform post-reviews to ensure 

proper implementation of related party transactions. On the other hand, the BPI AMTC MVC 

is composed of the BPI AMTC Division Heads. 

BPI AMTC is committed to ensure strict compliance with laws, regulations and reporting 

requirements relating to related party transactions, by instituting rigorous vetting processes, 

establishing adequate controls and oversight mechanisms, and pursuing improvements such as 

its related party database to facilitate the timely and accurate related party classification of 

clients and counterparties. 

Dividend Policy 

BPI AMTC’s dividend policy is to declare dividends to its common stockholders on a regular 

basis as may be determined by its Board of Directors, subject to retention of a portion of 

earnings to maintain or build up capital to provide for regulatory requirements, fund business 

growth and cover potential operational requirements. 

Creating Social Value for Communities 

BPI AMTC undertakes initiatives that help improve the lives of the people in the communities 

where we are, by embedding corporate social responsibility in our business and encouraging 

employee volunteerism. We also carry out Corporate Social Responsibility initiatives through 

BPI Foundation, Parent Bank’s social development arm, promoting not only financial 

empowerment, but also education and entrepreneurship. 

Data Privacy 

BPI AMTC has strong Data Privacy Policy in place, which describes to whom the policy 

applies to, what personal data BPI AMTC collects and how such data is collected, how BPI 

AMTC may use personal data for core business and marketing purposes, how BPI AMTC may 

disclose and share such personal data, how such personal data is stored and retained, and how 

such data can be accessed or corrected. The Data Privacy Policy is posted on the Company 

website at https://www.bpiassetmanagement.com/ and complies with the requirements of the 

Data Privacy Act and the National Privacy Commission. 

Customer Experience  

BPI AMTC establishes a business environment that empowers financial consumers to make 

informed financial decisions, protect their interests and rights in all stages of their transactions 

with BPI AMTC, and provide them an avenue to express their grievances regarding BPI 

AMTC’s products and services. BPI AMTC creates a culture of fair and responsible treatment 

of customers to generate and nurture fruitful and harmonious business relationships with 

potential and existing clients. BPI AMTC's consumer protection policies and procedures put in 

place to ensure consumer protection practices are embedded in the business operations.  

BPI AMTC has Financial Consumer Assistance Program that adheres to BSP Circular No. 

1048 or the Financial Consumer Protection Framework. It establishes the roles of key personnel 

responsible in ensuring consumer protection practices are properly observed. It also ensures 
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that consumer protection is a collective responsibility of various units and divisions of BPI 

AMTC.  

BPI AMTC designated a Customer Assistance Officer that is responsible for implementing, 

coordinating and ensuring compliance with the various initiatives and activities under BPI 

AMTC’s consumer assistance program and for reviewing materials that are presented to the 

customers and/or available through BPI AMTC’s digital channels. 

The Customer Assistance Officer also coordinates with Bank’s Customer Experience 

Management Officer (CXMO), who institutionalizes guidelines that will help ensure that 

feedback from existing and potential clients are handled appropriately. The continuous 

information and education campaign on the Financial Consumer Protection Program is planned 

by the Bank’s CXMO to help propagate awareness. As part of the program, a Customer 

Feedback Database was created and now used to strengthen the role of the frontliners in 

addressing and reporting customer issues. The complaints data gathered is a vital tool in 

identifying areas of concern and process improvement. In addition, different touch points or 

channels are in place where clients can file their feedback. These include our Contact Center 

via phone, e-mail and social media accounts, Customer Care, branches, and the business units. 

Employees are guided by the internal policies in handling complaints and where client 

feedback, specifically complaints, is classified with corresponding turn-around-time which is 

responded accordingly. 

BPI AMTC also exercises consumer protection standards of conduct to guide employees in 

observing the internal policies related to consumer protection. BPI AMTC a) exercises full 

disclosure of key information and transparency by ensuring consumers have holistic 

understanding of the products and services; b) protects client information by keeping financial 

transactions confidential; c) treats financial consumers fairly, honestly and professionally; d) 

maintains effective recourse/complaints handling process; and e) performs financial education 

and awareness to consumers. 

BPI AMTC establishes and keeps updated the financial consumer protection governance 

structure that aims to establish a business environment that protects the interest of consumers 

and creates a culture of fair and responsible treatment of consumers through good governance 

exercised by the Board of Directors, and reinforced by the various functions that own, manage, 

oversee or provide independent assurance over consumer protection activities. The Board of 

Directors and Senior Management are responsible for the development of the consumer 

protection strategy and establishment of an effective oversight over consumer protection 

programs. 

BOARD COMMITTEES 

Risk Management Committee 

The Risk Management Committee oversees and manages the risk exposures arising from BPI 

AMTC’s business activities, as well as monitors the level and management of BPI AMTC’s 

capital versus regulatory requirements. 

The committee nurtures a culture of risk management and implements and oversees its overall 

risk management program to assist the Board in the management of risks. The committee 

oversees the risk management program for BPI AMTC, monitors the risk exposures of BPI 
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AMTC and its clients, the level and management of BPI AMTC’s capital and performs other 

functions as may be mandated by the Board relating to the management of BPI AMTC’s 

capital, risks covering credit, market, liquidity, operational and IT, reputational, strategic and 

other risks arising from its trust, other fiduciary business and investment management 

activities. 

Composition: 

Jesse O. Ang (Independent Director) – Chairman 

Cezar P. Consing – Vice Chairman 

Maria Dolores B. Yuvienco (Independent Director) 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee monitors and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal 

control system, including financial reporting control and information technology security. 

Provides oversight over the financial reporting, systems of internal controls, risk management 

and governance process of the BPI AMTC; internal auditors and external auditors; monitoring 

of compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations; and review conducted by the BSP. 

Composition: 

Ignacio R. Bunye (Independent Director) – Chairman 

Rebecca G. Fernando – Vice Chairman 

Jesse O. Ang (Independent Director) 

Corporate Governance Committee 

The Corporate Governance Committee ensures the Board’s effectiveness and due observance 

of sound corporate governance principles and guidelines. 

Composition: 

Maria Dolores B. Yuvienco (Independent Director) – Chairman 

Ignacio R. Bunye (Independent Director) – Vice Chairman 

Mercedita S. Nolledo 

Board of Directors 

The Company’s Board of Directors oversees the proper administration and management of the 

Company’s trust and other fiduciary business and its investment management activities to 

ensure effective management of all risks inherent to the business. 

Antonio Jose U. Periquet* Chairman of the Board 

Ignacio R. Bunye* 

Mercedita S. Nolledo 

Fernando Zobel de Ayala  

Rebecca G. Fernando 

Cezar P. Consing 

Jesse Ang* 

Maria Dolores B. Yuvienco* 

Sheila Marie U. Tan, President 

*Independent Director 
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See Appendix A for the full biography of the Directors. 

Senior Management Team 

Sheila Marie U. Tan, President 

Smith L. Chua, Chief Investment Officer 

Yvette Mari V. De Peralta, Head of Clients Segment Division 

Marijoy Y. Kawpeng* Head of Strategic Planning and Marketing Division 

Ronald Bernard P. Bello, Head of Operations and Technology & Project Management 

Maria Paz A. Garcia, Head of Risk Management and Compliance Division 

Kim O. Chua, Head of Custody Division 

*Retired as of May 1, 2020 

 

X. Corporate Information 

Table of Organization as of 31 December 2019 

 

 
 

Contact Information 

BPI Asset Management and Trust Corporation 

6th and 7th Floors BPI Buendia Center 

Sen. Gil J. Puyat Avenue, 

Makati City 1209 

Tel: (632) 8580-3060 

Email: bpi_asset_management@bpi.com.ph 

www.bpiassetmanagement.com 

 

XI. Audited Financial Statements 

Please refer to Appendix B – Audited Financial Statements. 

 

 

http://www.bpiassetmanagement.com/
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APPENDIX A. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

Antonio Jose U. Periquet 

Filipino, 59 years old, Independent Director, has been an Independent Director of BPI AMTC since 

November 2016. He is currently the Chairman of BPI AMTC Boards and a member of the Bank’s Executive 

Committee. He also serves as an Independent Director of BPI, BPI Capital Corporation and BPI Family 

Savings Bank, Inc. 

Mr. Periquet is the Chairman of the Campden Hill Group, Inc. and Pacific Main Holdings and an 

Independent Director of Albizia ASEAN Tenggara Fund. He is a trustee of Lyceum University of the 

Philippines and a member of the Dean’s Global Advisory Council at the University of Virginia’s Darden 

School of Business. 

Mr. Periquet graduated from the Ateneo de Manila University with an AB Economics degree in 1982. He 

also holds a Master of Science degree in Economics from Oxford University and an MBA from the 

University of Virginia. 

Directorships in other Philippine Stock Exchange-Listed Companies: 

ABS-CBN Corporation – Independent Director 

ABS-CBN Holdings Corporation – Independent Director 

Ayala Corporation – Independent Director 

DMCI Holdings, Inc. – Independent Director 

Semirara Mining Corporation – Independent Director 

Max’s Group of Companies – Independent Director 

Philippine Seven Corporation – Independent Director 

Ignacio R. Bunye 

Filipino, 75 years old, Independent Director, became a member of BPI AMTC Board in November 2016. 

He is also the Chairman of Company’s Audit Committee and Vice Chairman of the Corporate Governance 

Committee. He serves as an Independent Director of BPI and BPI Direct BanKo, Inc., A Savings Bank. 

Mr. Bunye was a member of the Monetary Board of the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas from 2008 to 2014. 

He previously held the positions of Presidential Political Adviser in 2008, Presidential Spokesperson in 

2003, and Press Secretary in 2002. He also worked in BPI’s Treasury and Corporate Finance departments 

from 1983 before he began his government service in the City of Muntinlupa (then a municipality) as 

officer-in-charge and mayor between 1986 and 1998. 

During his twelve-year stewardship in Muntinlupa, Mr. Bunye founded the Muntinlupa Polytechnic College 

(now Pamantasan ng Lungsod ng Muntinlupa) and laid the foundation for the establishment of the Ospital 

ng Muntinlupa. In a concurrent capacity, he also served as Chairman of the Metropolitan Manila Authority 

(now Metropolitan Manila Development Authority) between 1991 and 1992, and was a member of the 

House of Representatives representing Muntinlupa between 1998 and 2001. A former print and broadcast 
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journalist, he now writes a regular weekly column for Manila Bulletin, Tempo, People’s Tonight, Sun Star, 

BusinessWeek Mindanao, Panay News and Filipino Reporter (in New York). 

Mr. Bunye is a member of the Philippine Integrated Bar. He obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree and 

Bachelor of Laws degree from the Ateneo de Manila University in 1964 and 1969, respectively. He passed 

the Philippine Bar Examination in 1969. Significant awards and recognition received by Mr. Bunye include 

the Asian Institute of Management Honor and Prestige Award, the Bangko Sentral Service Excellence 

Medal, the Gran Olden de Isabela Catolica, and the Order of Lakandula.  

Mr. Bunye is not a director in any other publicly-listed company. 

Mercedita S. Nolledo 

Filipino, 79 years old, Non-Executive Director, has been a member of the Board of Directors of BPI AMTC 

since November 2016. She is a member of the Company’s Corporate Governance Committee. Ms. Nolledo 

is also a Director of BPI and in the following BPI subsidiaries and affiliates: BPI Investment Management, 

Inc., where she sits as Chairman; BPI Family Savings Bank, Inc. and BPI Capital Corporation.  

Ms. Nolledo serves as Director of the following companies: Ayala Land Commercial REIT, Inc., Michigan 

Holdings, Inc., and Anvaya Cove Beach and Nature Club, Inc. She is a member of the Board of Trustees 

of Ayala Foundation, Inc. and BPI Foundation, Inc. as well as Vice-President of Sonoma Properties, Inc. 

She was a member of the Board of Directors of Ayala Corporation from 2004 until September 2010. 

Ms. Nolledo graduated with the degree of Bachelor of Science in Business Administration major in 

Accounting (magna cum laude) from the University of the Philippines in 1960 and placed second at the 

Certified Public Accountant Licensure Board Examination administered in the same year. In 1965, she 

obtained her Bachelor of Laws degree (cum laude) also from the University of the Philippines where she 

also placed second at the Bar Examination held in the same year. 

Directorships in other Philippine Stock Exchange-Listed Companies: 

Xurpas, Inc. – Non-Executive Director 

D&L Industries, Inc. – Independent Director 

Fernando Zobel de Ayala 

Filipino, 60 years old, has been a Non-Executive Director of BPI AMTC since November 2016. He also 

serves as Vice Chairman of the Board of BPI and Chairman of the Board of Trustees of BPI Foundation, 

Inc. 

Mr. Zobel is the Chairman of AC International Finance Ltd. and AC Energy Holdings, Inc.; Co-Chairman 

of Ayala Foundation, Inc.; and Director of LiveIt Investments, Ltd., Ayala International Holdings Limited, 

and Honda Cars Philippines, Inc. 

Mr. Zobel is a member of the Board of Georgetown University and INSEAD. He is a member of the World 

Presidents' Organization and the Chief Executives Organization. He is a Board member of the Habitat for 

Humanity International and chairs the steering committee of its Asia Pacific Capital Campaign. He also 
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serves on the board of the Asia Society and is a member of the Asia Philanthropy Circle, a board member 

of the Philippine National Museum and Pilipinas Shell Foundation. 

He holds a liberal arts degree from Harvard College and a CIM from INSEAD, France. 

Directorships in other Philippine Stock Exchange-Listed Companies: 

Ayala Corporation – Director and President and Chief Operating Officer 

Globe Telecom, Inc. – Co-Vice Chairman of the Board 

Integrated Micro-Electronics, Inc. – Director 

Ayala Land, Inc. – Chairman of the Board 

Manila Water Company, Inc. – Chairman of the Board 

AC Energy Philippines, Inc. – Chairman of the Board 

Pilipinas Shell Petroleum Corp. – Independent Director 

Rebecca G. Fernando 

Filipino, 72 years old, Non-Executive Director, first served on the BPI board from October 1995 to 2007 

and from March 2009 up to the present. Ms. Fernando is a member of the following Committees in BPI: 

Executive Committee, Related Party Transaction Committee and Retirement/Pension Committee. She is 

also a member of the Board of Directors of BPI Capital Corporation, BPI Family Savings Bank, Inc., and 

BPI Asset Management and Trust Corporation. 

Ms. Fernando is the Financial Consultant and Member of the Finance Boards of The Roman Catholic 

Archbishop of Manila and of The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Antipolo. 

She graduated with a BSBA degree major in accounting from the University of the Philippines in 1970. 

She took further studies for an MBA at the University of the Philippines and attended an Executive Program 

on Transnational Business at the Pacific Asian Management Institute at the University of Hawaii. She is a 

Certified Public Accountant.  

Ms. Fernando is not a director in any other publicly-listed company. 

Cezar P. Consing 

Filipino, 61 years old, has been a President and Chief Executive Officer of BPI and has served on BPI’s 

board of directors for 16 years. He became a member of BPI AMTC Boards in November 2016. A Senior 

Managing Director of Ayala Corporation, BPI's controlling shareholder, he represented J.P. Morgan & Co., 

then BPI's second largest shareholder, on the BPI board from 1995-2000, was an Independent Director from 

August 2004-2007 and then rejoined the board in April 2010, becoming its President and CEO in April 

2013. Mr. Consing also serves as Chairman of BPI's thrift bank, investment bank, UK bank, property and 

casualty insurance, leasing, and rental subsidiaries, and Vice Chairman of its Foundation; and is also a 

board director of BPI's life insurance, asset management and micro finance subsidiaries. Mr. Consing serves 

as a member of BPI's Executive Committee, and is Chairman of its Credit and Management Committees. 

Mr. Consing serves as President and board director of Bancnet, Inc., and board director of LGU Guarantee 

Corporation, three industry consortium institutions where BPI is a minority shareholder. Outside his 

association with BPI, Mr. Consing serves on the boards of four private companies: The Rohatyn Group, 



 

BPI ASSET MANAGEMENT AND TRUST CORPORATION 45 

 20
19

 A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p

o
rt

  
Sqreem Technologies, FILGIFTS.com and Endeavor Philippines. He has also served as an independent 

board director of CIMB Group Holdings (2006 - 2013) and First Gen Corporation (2005 - 2013). He is also 

a board director of the US-Philippines Society and a trustee of the Manila Golf Club Foundation. Mr. 

Consing has been a member of the Trilateral Commission since 2014. 

Mr. Consing first worked for BPI, in corporate planning and corporate banking, from 1980 - 1985. He 

worked for J.P. Morgan & Co., based in Hong Kong and Singapore, from 1985 - 2004, rising to co-head 

and head the firm's investment banking business in Asia Pacific from 1997 - 2004, the last five years as 

President of J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Ltd. As a senior Managing Director of J.P. Morgan, Mr. 

Consing was a member of the firm's global investment banking management committee and its Asia Pacific 

management committee. Mr. Consing was a partner at The Rohatyn Group from 2004 - 2013, headed its 

Hong Kong office and its private investing business in Asia, and was a board director of its real estate, and 

energy and infrastructure private equity investing subsidiaries. 

Mr. Consing received an A.B. Economics degree (Accelerated Program), magna cum laude, from De La 

Salle University, Manila, in 1979. At university, he was a member of the student council, the student 

newspaper and the varsity track and field team. In recent years, he has served on the advisory committees 

of the university and its school of economics. Mr. Consing obtained an M.A. in Applied Economics from 

the University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, in 1980. 

Directorships in other Philippine Stock Exchange-Listed Companies: 

National Reinsurance Corporation of the Philippines – Chairman of the Board (until June of 2019) 

Jollibee Foods Corporation – Independent Director 

Jesse O. Ang 

Filipino, 61 years old, Independent Director, became a member of the Board of Directors of BPI AMTC on 

June 2018. He is a member of Audit Committee and Chair of the Risk Management Committee. He is also 

a member of BPI Capital Corporation Board of Directors. 

Mr. Ang spent 18 years with International Finance Corporation (IFC). He entered IFC in 2000 as Senior 

Investment Officer and he became the Resident Representative for its office in the Philippines in 2007. He 

was the first Filipino to head the IFC Philippine Office.  

Mr. Ang received a B.S. Industrial Engineering degree, summa cum laude, from the University of the 

Philippines in 1981. He also earned his Master’s degree in Business Administration from the Wharton 

Graduate School of Business in 1985.  

Ms. Ang is not a director in any other publicly-listed company. 

Maria Dolores B. Yuvienco 

Filipino, 72 years old, Independent Director, became a member of the Board of Directors of BPI AMTC on 

July 2019. She is a member of the Risk Management Committee and Chair of the Corporate Governance 

Committee. She is also a member of BPI Board of Directors. 
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In April 2018, Ms. Yuvienco was elected as Independent Director of First Consolidated Bank (Thrift Bank), 

and was chosen to chair the Nomination and Governance Committee. 

Ms. Yuvienco worked for 41 years with the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (formerly known as Central Bank 

of the Philippines) under various capacities until her compulsory retirement in March 2013 as Assistant 

Governor in the Supervision and Examination Sector. Her exposure at the BSP was largely in bank 

supervision where her responsibilities ranged from the crafting of policies/regulations on banking 

supervision to on-site examination and off-site monitoring of BSP-supervised entities. As a ranking official 

in the BSP, she had opportunities to meet and share ideas with her counterparts in other central banks in the 

region. Owing to her experience, she was tapped as a resource speaker in various training programs of the 

Southeast Asian Center for Banking in Kuala Lumpur. 

Ms. Yuvienco graduated from St. Theresa’s College, Quezon City in 1967, with a degree of Bachelor of 

Science in Commerce, major in Accounting. She took up post graduate studies at the University of the 

Philippines Diliman. She is a Certified Public Accountant and a Career Executive Service Professional.  

Ms. Yuvienco is not a Director in any other publicly-listed company. 

Sheila Marie U. Tan 

Filipino, 53 years old, was appointed President of BPI AMTC on July 1, 2018.  

Ms. Tan joined BPI AMTC in 2017 after her four-year stint as head of strategic advisory at BPI Capital 

Corporation. Prior to joining BPI, she served as chief legal counsel of Ayala Land, Inc. and co-managing 

director of Ayala Group Legal. 

Ms. Tan graduated from University of the Philippines, Diliman, with the degree of Bachelor of Science in 

Economics (cum laude) in 1988 where she also received her Bachelor of Laws degree in 1992.  She was 

admitted to the Philippine Bar in 1993. 

CORPORATE SECRETARY 

Angela Pilar B. Maramag 

Filipino, 50 years old, was appointed Corporate Secretary on April 8, 2015 of the Bank. She is also the 

Corporate Secretary or Deputy Corporate Secretary of various BPI subsidiaries and affiliates, including BPI 

Family Savings Bank, BPI Capital, BPI Forex, BPI/MS Insurance Corp., and BPI Century Tokyo Lease 

and Finance Corp. 

Prior to joining BPI, Ms. Maramag was Senior Counsel at the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) in 

Basel, Switzerland, from 2001 to 2008, and Head of Finance and Administration at the BIS Representative 

Office in Hong Kong from 2008 to 2011. She was a Legal Officer at the United Nations Compensation 

Commission in Geneva, Switzerland, from 1998 to 2001. 

Ms. Maramag was admitted to the Philippine Bar (1995) and New York State Bar (1998). She received her 

Master in Laws (LL.M) from the University of Chicago in 1997, Juris Doctor (J.D) in 1994 from Ateneo 

de Manila School of Law, and AB Honors Program in Economics in 1990 from Ateneo de Manila 

University. 
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APPENDIX B.  

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
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BPI Asset Management and Trust Corporation 

 
Statements of Financial Position 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(All amounts in Philippine Peso) 

 
 

 Notes 2019 2018 

    

A S S E T S 

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 2 2,441,420,393 1,867,217,509 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 3 491,245,850 

 
349,399,689 

Trust and other receivables, net 4 334,216,194 349,783,596 

Other assets 5 53,464,535 42,733,439 

Total current assets  3,320,346,972 2,609,134,233 

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Retirement benefit asset 6 10,696,654 21,127,981 

Property and equipment, net 7 131,484,122 33,767,958 

Intangible asset, net 8 347,206,082 624,636,113 

Deferred tax assets, net 9  19,456,123 9,215,000 

Total non-current assets  508,842,981 688,747,052 

Total assets  3,829,189,953 3,297,881,285 

    

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  E Q U I T Y  

    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Due to Parent Bank 17 70,686,535 196,314,956 

Other liabilities 10 177,656,421 158,509,355 

Lease liabilities 16 19,950,737 - 

Total current liabilities  268,293,693 354,824,311 

    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Lease liabilities 16 80,416,572 - 

Total liabilities  348,710,265 354,824,311 

EQUITY    

 Share capital 11 600,000,000 600,000,000 

 Additional paid-in capital 11 902,066,145 902,066,145 

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income 9 (4,450,099) 5,895,273 

Reserve for trust business 18.4 199,243,131 145,497,196 

Surplus   1,783,620,511 1,289,598,360 

Total equity  3,480,479,688 2,943,056,974 

Total liabilities and equity  3,829,189,953 3,297,881,285 

 
 

(The notes on pages 1 to 30 are an integral part of these financial statements.) 
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BPI Asset Management and Trust Corporation 
 

Statements of Total Comprehensive Income 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

(All amounts in Philippine Peso) 
 
 

 Notes 2019 2018 

INCOME    
Trust income  2,159,754,607 2,017,965,629 
Commission income  159,063,729 173,006,033 
Interest income 2,3 58,370,788 28,517,411 

  2,377,189,124 2,219,489,073 

EXPENSES    
Commission expense  156,038,485 172,018,717 
Salaries and other employee benefits 13 360,358,678 312,757,807 
Intercompany expenses 17 395,454,138 353,125,753 
Taxes, licenses and regulatory fees 14 180,847,158 178,364,692 
Other operating expenses 15 511,510,521 412,223,418 

  1,604,208,980 1,428,490,387 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX  772,980,144 790,998,686 
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12 225,212,058 232,099,844 

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR  547,768,086 558,898,842 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX 9   
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    

Remeasurement (loss) gain on retirement benefit 
plans  (13,886,855) 5,575,827 

Item that may be subsequently reclassified to profit 
or loss    
Remeasurement gain (loss) on financial assets at 

fair value through other comprehensive income  3,541,483 (1,105,963) 

  (10,345,372) 4,469,864 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
YEAR  537,422,714 563,368,706 

 
 

         (The notes on pages 1 to 30 are an integral part of these financial statements.) 
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BPI Asset Management and Trust Corporation 
 

Statements of Changes in Equity 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

 (All amounts in Philippine Peso) 
 

 

 Share capital 
(Note 11) 

Additional paid-in 
capital 

(Note 11) 

Reserve for trust 
business 

(Note 18.4) 

Accumulated other 
comprehensive income 

(loss) Surplus Total 

Balances at January 1, 2018 600,000,000 - 88,300,000 1,425,409 787,896,714 1,477,622,123 

Transaction with owner       
Transfer of intangible asset - 902,066,145 - - - 902,066,145 

Total transaction with owner - 902,066,145 - - - 902,066,145 

Other movements       
Transfer from surplus to reserve - - 57,197,196 - (57,197,196) - 

Total other movements - - 57,197,196 - (57,197,196) - 

Comprehensive income       
Net income for the year - - - - 558,898,842 558,898,842 
Other comprehensive income - - - 4,469,864 - 4,469,864 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 4,469,864 558,898,842 563,368,706 

Balances at December 31, 2018 600,000,000 902,066,145 145,497,196 5,895,273 1,289,598,360 2,943,056,974 

Other movements       
Transfer from surplus to reserve - - 53,745,935 - (53,745,935) - 

Total other movements - - 53,745,935 - (53,745,935) - 

Comprehensive income       
Net income for the year - - - - 547,768,086 547,768,086 
Other comprehensive loss - - - (10,345,372) - (10,345,372) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the 
year - - - (10,345,372) 547,768,087 537,422,714 

Balances at December 31, 2019 600,000,000 902,066,145 199,243,131 (4,450,099) 1,783,620,511 3,480,479,688 

 
 

(The notes on pages 1 to 30 are an integral part of these financial statements.) 
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BPI Asset Management and Trust Corporation 
 

Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

(All amounts in Philippine Peso) 
 
 

 Notes 2019 2018 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
 Income before income tax  772,980,144 790,998,686 
Adjustment for:    

Depreciation and amortization  15 303,663,153 282,885,926 
Retirement benefit expense  9,691,328 12,586,818 
Provision for probable losses 4 4,659,074 357,448 
Interest income 2,3 (58,370,788) (28,517,411) 

Operating income before working capital changes  1,032,622,911 1,058,311,467 
Changes in working capital:    

Decrease (increase) in:    
Trust and other receivables  10,908,328 (58,935,246) 
Other assets  (51,282,226) (85,645,535) 

(Decrease) increase in:    
Due to Parent Bank  (125,628,421) 23,162,215 
Other liabilities  19,147,066 7,845,945 

Cash from operations  885,767,658 944,738,846 
Interest received  24,831,662 28,517,411 
Payment of interest portion of lease liability 16 (6,336,245) - 
Income taxes paid  (165,407,419)  (187,137,746) 
Retirement benefits paid  (13,146,856) (20,870,753) 

Net cash from operating activities  725,708,800 765,247,758 

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Purchase of investments at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 
 

3 (994,349,123) 
 

(733,569,068) 
Acquisition of property and equipment 7 (17,083,057) (11,816,199) 
Proceeds from redemption of investments 3 860,000,000 690,070,000 
Proceeds from disposals of property and 

equipment 
 

13,936,435 - 

Net cash used in investing activities  (137,495,745) (55,315,267) 

CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITY    
Payment of principal portion of lease liability 16 (14,010,171)  - 

NET INCREASE IN CASH  574,202,884 709,932,491 
    
CASH     

January 1 2 1,867,217,509 1,157,285,018 

December 31  2,441,420,393 1,867,217,509 

 
 

(The notes on pages 1 to 30 are an integral part of these financial statements.) 
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BPI Asset Management and Trust Corporation  
  
Notes to the Financial Statements  
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In the notes, all amounts are shown in Philippine Peso unless otherwise stated) 
 
 
1 General information 
 
The Monetary Board of the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) on its Resolution No. 1349, dated July 28, 2016, 
approved the request of Bank of the Philippine Islands (“BPI” or “Parent Bank”) to spin-off its trust department, 
Asset Management and Trust Group (BPI-AMTG), into a trust corporation. 
 
BPI Asset Management and Trust Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated and registered with the 
Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on October 6, 2016 primarily to carry and engage in the 
business of trust, other fiduciary business and investment management business which may legally be had or done 
by trust corporations organized under and in accordance with Republic Act No. 8791 (The General Banking Law 
of 2000) and its implementing regulations as it exists or may be amended and to do all other things incident 
thereto and necessary and proper in connection with said purposes within such territory, as may be determined 
by the Monetary Board of the BSP. The corresponding Certificate of Authority to Operate was issued by the BSP to 
the Company on December 29, 2016.  
 
At December 31, 2019, the total assets managed by the Company amount to P731 billion (2018 - P591 billion).  
 
The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of BPI, a domestic commercial bank with an expanded banking license 
in the Philippines. 
 
In 2019, the Company’s office address, which also serves as its principal place of business, was transferred to 7th 
Floor BPI Buendia Center, Sen. Gil J. Puyat Avenue, Makati City. Prior to 2019, the Company’s registered office 
address and principal place of business were both located at 17th Floor BPI Building, Ayala Avenue, Barangay San 
Lorenzo, Makati City. The Company has 272 regular employees as at December 31, 2019 (2018 - 276). 
 
As at December 31, 2019, a limited number of cases of COVID-19 had been reported to the World Health 
Organization. Following the subsequent spread of the virus globally, the World Health Organization declared 
the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic on March 11, 2020. The identification of the virus after the end of the 
reporting period as a new coronavirus, and its subsequent outbreak, is considered a non-adjusting subsequent 
event. At present, it is not possible to assess the detailed impact of this emerging risk on the Company but there 
is a growing concern about the impact on the world and local economy. The Company is closely monitoring the 
potential impact of the pandemic to their operations. 
 
These financial statements have been approved and authorized for issuance by the Company’s Board of 
Directors on March 18, 2020. 
 
2 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
The account at December 31 consists of: 

 

 2019 2018 

Cash in banks 1,941,420,393 1,367,217,509 

Short-term deposits  500,000,000 500,000,000 

 2,441,420,393 1,867,217,509 

 
Cash in banks earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates.  Short-term deposits, which can be withdrawn 
anytime, carry effective interest rate of 4.25% in 2019 (2018 - 6.5%). 
 
Interest income earned from bank deposits and short-term deposits for the year ended December 31, 2019 
amounts to P29,494,630 (2018 - P14,696,091). 
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3 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

 
Financial assets at FVOCI pertain to Philippine government treasury bills with fair value of P491,245,850 as at 
December 31, 2019 (2018 - P349,399,689) and are all maturing within 12 months from the reporting date. 
 
The Company’s investments in government securities are held and classified at FVOCI to address regulatory 
requirements on basic security deposit for trust corporations and to address the Company’s liquidity 
requirements. In addition, the Company does not intend to dispose of these investments in the short or medium 
term. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, additions and disposals of financial asset at FVOCI amount to 
P967,910,742 (2018 - P523,046,780) and P860,000,000 (2018 - 690,070,000), respectively.  
 
The related interest income of the securities held amounts to P28,876,158 for the year ended  
December 31, 2019 (2018 - P13,821,320). 
 
4 Trust and other receivables, net 
 
The account at December 31 consists of:  
 

 2019 2018 

Accrued trust income 296,895,968 268,242,185 
Other receivables 42,445,504 82,007,615 

 339,341,472 350,249,800 
Allowance for probable losses for other receivables (5,125,278) (466,204) 

 334,216,194 349,783,596 

 
Other receivables include benefits to be received from government agencies and employee advances. 
 
Movement in allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables for the years ended December 31 
follows: 
 

    2019 2018 

January 1  466,204 108,756 
Provision for probable losses for other receivables  4,659,074 357,448 

December 31  5,125,278 466,204 

 
5 Other assets 

 
The account at December 31 consists of: 
 

  2019 2018 

  Prepaid expenses  41,140,984 30,771,792 
  Security deposits  6,529,184 6,113,520 
  Miscellaneous assets  5,794,367 5,848,127 

  53,464,535 42,733,439 

 
Miscellaneous assets include supplies and receivables from the Bureau of Internal Revenue. 
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6 Retirement benefit 
 
The Company’s employees participate in a non-contributory retirement benefit plans covering all qualified officers 
and employees. The description of the plans applicable to the Company follows: 
 
Defined benefit retirement plan 
 
Under the BPI unified plan which includes the Company, the normal retirement age is 60 years.  Normal 
retirement benefit consists of a lump sum benefit equivalent to 200% of the basic monthly salary of the employee 
at the time of his retirement for each year of service, if he has rendered at least 10 years of service, or to 150% of 
his basic monthly salary, if he has rendered less than 10 years of service.  For voluntary retirement, the benefit 
is equivalent to 112.50% of the employee’s basic monthly salary for a minimum of 10 years of service with the 
rate factor progressing to a maximum of 200% of basic monthly salary for service years of 25 or more. Death or 
disability benefit, on the other hand, shall be determined on the same basis as in voluntary retirement. 
 
Defined contribution retirement plan 
 
In 2016, the BPI Group implemented a defined contribution plan which is accounted for as a defined benefit 
plan with minimum guarantee. The defined benefit minimum guarantee is equivalent to a certain percentage 
of the monthly salary payable to an employee at normal retirement age with the required credited years of 
service based on the provisions of Republic Act (RA) No. 7641, The Philippine Retirement Pay Law. All non-
unionized employees hired on or after the effective date are automatically under the new defined contribution 
plan.  Employees hired prior to the effective date shall have the option to elect to become members of the new 
defined contribution plan.  
 
The net defined benefit cost and contributions to be paid by the Company are determined by an independent 
actuary.  
 
Plan assets are held in trusts, governed by local regulations and practice in the Philippines. 
 
Following are the amounts recognized relating to the Company based on the recent actuarial valuation reports: 
 
Defined benefit retirement plan 
 
(a) Pension asset as at December 31 recognized in the statement of financial position consists of: 
 

 2019 2018 

Fair value of plan assets  162,135,285 121,035,686 
Present value of defined benefit obligation (150,732,455) (94,662,578) 

Surplus 11,402,830 26,373,108 
Effect of asset ceiling (706,176) (5,245,127) 

 10,696,654 21,127,981 

 
The movements in plan assets are summarized as follows: 
 

 2019 2018 

At January 1 121,035,686 127,286,331 
Benefit payments (2,311,889) (8,704,166) 
Interest income 10,591,808 7,527,469 
Contributions 6,685,521 8,205,815 
Remeasurement gain (loss) - return on plan assets 26,134,159 (13,279,763) 

At December 31 162,135,285 121,035,686 

 
The carrying value of plan assets as at December 31, 2019 is equivalent to its fair value of P162,135,285  
(2018 - P121,035,686). 
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The plan assets at December 31 are comprised of the following: 
 

 2019 2018 

       Amount %    Amount % 

Debt securities 77,987,072 48 37,784,354 31 
Equity securities 61,222,284 38 57,285,956 47 
Others 22,925,929 14 25,965,376 22 

 162,135,285 100 121,035,686 100 

 
The plan assets of the unified retirement plan of the BPI Group include investment in BPI’s common shares 
with aggregate fair value of P421 million as at December 31, 2019 (2018 - P451 million). An officer of the Parent 
Bank exercises the voting rights over the plan’s investment in BPI’s common shares. The amount attributable 
to the Company is estimated to be P5.6 million in 2019 (2018 - P5.4 million). 
 
The movements in the present value of defined benefit obligation are summarized as follows: 
 

  2019 2018 

At January 1  94,662,578 119,616,895 
Current service cost  5,707,561 8,515,750 
Benefit payments  (2,311,889) (8,704,166) 
Interest expense  8,226,178 6,858,256 
Remeasurement loss (gain) - changes in financial 

assumptions  44,448,027 (31,624,157) 

At December 31  150,732,455 94,662,578 

 
The Company has no other transactions with the plan other than the contributions presented above for the 
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
(b) Expense recognized in the statement of total comprehensive income consists of: 
 

  2019 2018 

Current service cost  5,707,561 8,515,750 
Interest expense  8,226,178 6,858,256 
Interest income  (10,591,808) (7,527,469) 
Interest on the effect of asset ceiling  496,380 23,872 

At December 31  3,838,311 7,870,409 

 
The principal assumptions used for the actuarial valuation of the defined benefit plan are as follows: 
 

  2019   2018 

Discount rate  5.52% 8.69% 
Salary increase rate  8.69% 5.00% 

 
Discount rate 
 
The discount rate is determined by reference to yields on long-term Philippine Treasury Bonds and adjusted to 
reflect the term similar to the estimated term of the benefit obligation as determined by the actuary as at the 
end of the reporting period as there is no deep market in high quality corporate bonds in the Philippines.  
 
Future salary rate increases 
 
This is the expected long-term average rate of salary increase taking into account inflation, seniority, promotion 
and other market factors. Salary increases comprise of the general inflationary increases plus a further increase 
for individual productivity, merit and promotion. The future salary increase rates are set by reference over the 
period over which benefits are expected to be paid. 
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Demographic assumptions 
 
Assumptions regarding future mortality and disability experience are based on published statistics generally 
used for local actuarial valuation purposes. 
 
The defined benefit plan typically exposes the Company to a number of risks such as investment risk, interest 
rate risk and salary risk. The most significant of which relate to investment and interest rate risk. The present 
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 
interest rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and 
that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. A decrease in government 
bond yields will increase the defined benefit obligation although this will also be partially offset by an increase 
in the value of the plan’s fixed income holdings. Hence, the present value of defined benefit obligation is directly 
affected by the discount rate to be applied by the Company. However, the Company believes that due to the long-
term nature of the pension liability and the strength of the Company itself, the mix of debt and equity securities 
holdings of the plan is an appropriate element of the long term strategy to manage the plan efficiently. 
 
The Company ensures that the investment positions are managed within an asset-liability matching framework 
that has been developed to achieve long-term investments that are in line with the obligations under the plan. 
The Company’s main objective is to match assets to the defined benefit obligation by investing primarily in long-
term debt securities with maturities that match the benefit payments as they fall due. The asset-liability matching 
is being monitored on a regular basis and potential change in investment mix is being discussed with the trustor, 
as necessary to better ensure the appropriate asset-liability matching. 
 
The Company contributes to the plan depending on the suggested funding contribution as calculated by an 
independent actuary. The expected contribution to the plan for the year ending December 31, 2020 amounts to 
P7,778,594.  
 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2019 is 10.98 years  
(2018 - 10.4 years).  
 
The projected maturity analysis of retirement benefit payments as at December 31 follows: 
 

        2019 2018 

Less than a year  4,908,498 1,202,870 
Between 1 to 5 years  11,570,551 13,153,586 
Between 5 to 10 years  107,275,251 101,095,070 
Between 10 to 15 years  162,857,672 145,616,344 
Between 15 to 20 years  37,946,821 66,540,034 
Over 20 years  278,586,009 338,876,046 

 
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions follows:  
 

 
Change in 

assumption 

Impact on defined benefit obligation 

Increase in 
assumption 

Decrease in 
assumption 

December 31, 2019    
Discount rate 0.5% Decrease by 5.30% Increase by 5.70% 
Salary increase rate 1.0% Increase by 11.80% Decrease by 10.30% 

December 31, 2018  
Discount rate 0.5% Decrease by 5.39% Increase by 5.02% 
Salary growth rate 1.0% Increase by 11.48% Decrease by 10.12% 

 
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.  When 
calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions, the same method 
(present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the 
reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the retirement liability recognized within the statement of 
financial position. 
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Defined contribution retirement plan subject to the requirements of RA No. 7641 
 

   2019 2018 

Fair value of plan assets 63,446,528 42,935,231 
Present value of defined benefit obligation under RA No. 7641 (42,154,343) (16,481,861) 

Surplus 21,292,185 26,453,370 
Effect of asset ceiling (21,292,185) (26,453,370) 

 - - 

 
The movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 
 

  2019 2018 

At January 1  16,481,861 14,512,901 
Current service cost  3,286,333 2,934,594 
Benefit payments  (1,968,808) (901,762) 
Interest expense  1,494,905 904,154 
Remeasurement loss (gain) - experience adjustments  22,860,052 (968,026) 

At December 31  42,154,343 16,481,861 

 
The movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 
 

 2019 2018 

At January 1   42,935,231 30,471,451 
Interest income   4,027,545 2,143,571 
Benefit payments   (1,968,808) (901,762) 
Contributions   9,830,731 8,773,354 
Remeasurement gain - return on plan assets   8,621,829 2,448,617 

At December 31   63,446,528 42,935,231 

 
Expense recognized in the statement of total comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 
consists of: 
 

  2019 2018 

Current service cost  3,286,333 2,934,594 
Interest expense  1,494,905 904,154 
Interest income  (4,027,545) (2,143,571) 
Interest on the effect of asset ceiling  5,099,324 994,218 

At December 31  5,853,017 2,689,395 

 
The principal assumptions used for the actuarial valuation of the defined contribution plan of the Company 
are as follows: 
 

  2019 2018 

Discount rate  5.57% 9.07% 
Salary increase rate  5.00% 5.00% 

 
The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets follow: 
 

        2019          2018 

 Amount % Amount % 

Equity securities 34,933,658 55 34,191,947 80 
Debt securities 24,065,268 38 7,548,871 17 
Others 4,447,602 7 1,194,413 3 

 63,446,528 100 42,935,231 100 
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The asset allocation of the pension plan is set and reviewed from time to time by the plan trustees taking into 
account the membership profile, the liquidity requirements of the plan and risk appetite of the plan sponsor.  
 
Contributions are determined on the plan provisions. The expected contribution of the Company for the year 
ending December 31, 2020 amounts to P10,254,797. 
  
The weighted average duration pertaining to the defined contribution plan as at December 31, 2019 is  
17.48 years (2018 - 15.6 years). 
 
7 Property and equipment 
 
The account at December 31 consists of: 
 

2019 
Furniture and 

equipment 
Transportation 

equipment 
Office 

premises Total 

Cost     
At January 1, 2019 606,199 41,979,114 - 42,585,313 
Application of PFRS 16 on 

lease contract (Note 16) - - 120,802,664 120,802,664 
Additions 1,973,057 15,110,000 - 17,083,057 
Disposals (583,699) (18,987,853) - (19,571,552) 

      At December 31, 2019 1,995,557 38,101,261 120,802,664 160,899,482 

Accumulated depreciation     
At January 1, 2019 20,294 8,797,061 - 8,817,355 
Depreciation  1,450,667 5,655,366 19,127,089 26,233,122 
Disposals - (5,635,117) - (5,635,117) 

      At December 31, 2019 1,470,961 8,817,310 19,127,089 29,415,360 

  Net book value 524,596 29,283,951 101,675,575 131,484,122 

 

2018 
Furniture and 

equipment 
Transportation 

equipment 
Office 

premises Total 

Cost     
At January 1, 2018 - 30,769,114 - 30,769,114 
Additions 606,199 11,210,000 - 11,816,199 

      At December 31, 2018 606,199 41,979,114 - 42,585,313 

Accumulated depreciation     
At January 1, 2018 - 3,361,461 - 3,361,461 
Depreciation  20,294 5,435,600 - 5,455,894 

      At December 31, 2018 20,294 8,797,061 - 8,817,355 

  Net book value 585,905 33,182,053 - 33,767,958 

 
For the year December 31, 2019, proceeds from disposals of furniture and equipment and transportation 
equipment amount to their respective net book values. 
 
Office premises above pertains to right-of-use assets arising from the Company’s lease contracts (Note 16). 
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8 Intangible asset 
 
The account at December 31 consists of: 
 

  2019 2018 

Cost    
At beginning of the year  902,066,145 - 
Additions  - 902,066,145 

      At end of the year  902,066,145 902,066,145 

Accumulated depreciation    
At beginning of the year  277,430,032 - 
Amortization   277,430,031 277,430,032 

      At end of the year  554,860,063 277,430,032 

  Net book value  347,206,082 624,636,113 

 
In 2011, the trust and investment management of ING Bank NV Manila was acquired by the Parent Bank. A 
premium was paid by the Parent Bank in recognition of the value of the contractual customer relationships, which 
is classified as an intangible asset. 
 
The Parent Bank valued the intangible asset using discounted cash flows earned from the retained client customers 
after the acquisition. After the acquisition, the intangible asset was estimated to have a useful life of 10 years and 
thus, was amortized for 10 years. 
 
In 2016, the Parent Bank spun-off its asset management business into a stand-alone trust corporation. As part of 
this, the Parent Bank intended to transfer the intangible asset to the books of the Company. The intangible asset 
was only transferred in the books of the Company in 2018 in consideration of an additional paid-in capital for 
Parent Bank (Note 11).  
 
The amortization of the intangible asset does not reduce the amount of the additional paid-in capital of the Parent 
Bank but forms part of other operating expenses under the statement of total comprehensive income. 
 
9 Deferred income taxes 
 
The account at December 31 consists of: 
 

   2019 2018 

Deferred income tax assets on:   
Provision for employee benefits 1,830,237 8,156,063 
Remeasurement loss on defined contribution plan 4,795,705 2,832,386 
Unamortized past service cost 6,984,088 2,837,070 
Remeasurement of financial assets at FVOCI 1,896,244 378,466 
Provision for probable losses 1,504,956 107,234 
Others 4,194,101 641,179 

Deferred income tax liability on:   
Remeasurement gain on defined benefit plan (1,749,208) (5,737,398) 

Deferred income tax assets, net 19,456,123 9,215,000 

 
Others pertains to temporary differences due to stock option given to employees and due to the recognition of 
leases under PFRS 16. 
 
The movements in deferred income tax account at December 31 are summarized as follows: 
 

 2019 2018 

Beginning balance 9,215,000 10,540,548 
Amounts credited to profit or loss 2,771,835 685,625 
Amounts credited (charged) to other comprehensive income 7,469,288 (2,011,174) 

Ending balance 19,456,123 9,215,000 
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The deferred tax credit (charge) recognized in other comprehensive income comprises the remeasurement on 
retirement benefit plans and remeasurement on FVOCI, as follows: 
 

 2019 2018 

Remeasurement on defined benefit plan 25,676,585 8,804,299 
Remeasurement on defined contribution plan (6,544,398) (6,083,959) 
Changes in the effect of asset ceiling 706,177 5,245,127 

 19,838,364 (7,965,467) 
Deferred tax effect (5,951,509) 2,389,640 

Remeasurement on retirement benefit plans, net 13,886,855 (5,575,827) 

 

 2019 2018 

Unrealized gain (loss) on remeasurement of FVOCI 5,059,261 (1,579,947) 
Deferred tax effect (1,517,778) 473,984 

Remeasurement on FVOCI 3,541,483 (1,105,963) 

 
10 Other liabilities 
 
The account at December 31 consists of: 
 

 2019 2018 

Accounts payable and accrued other expenses 26,552,274 59,496,143 
Taxes payable 101,229,227 40,846,086 
Salaries payable 34,013,693 25,665,556 
Miscellaneous liabilities 15,861,227 32,501,570 

Total 177,656,421 158,509,355 

 
Miscellaneous liabilities consist of fiduciary transactions relating to accrued benefit payments due to the 
beneficiary of the Company’s clients. 
 
11 Share capital 
 
Share capital 
 
Details of share capital as at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

   No. of Shares Amount 

Authorized, P10 par value    200,000,000 2,000,000,000 
Issued and outstanding   60,000,000 600,000,000 

 
Subscribed and issued share capital was fully paid at the inception of the Company. 
 
Additional paid-in capital 
 
In 2018, intangible assets pertaining to contractual customer relationships amounting to P902,066,145 were 
transferred from the Parent Bank (Note 8). 
 
Excess surplus 
 
Under the Corporation Code of the Philippines (the Code), stock corporations are prohibited from retaining 
surplus profits in excess of 100% of their paid-up capital, except when justified by any reasons mentioned in the 
Code. The accumulated surplus and paid-up capital of the Company as at December 31, 2019 amount to 
P1,783,620,511 (2018 - P1,289,598,360) and P1,502,066,145 (2018 - P1,502,066,145), respectively. The 
accumulated surplus is in excess of the paid up capital in 2019. The said excess is in line with management’s 
plan to retain surplus to support its working capital requirements and planned business growth strategies as 
approved by its Board of Directors. The Company will also reassess plans to declare dividends in the ensuing 
year. 
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12 Income taxes 
 
Income tax expense for the years ended December 31 consists of: 
 

 2019 2018 

Current 227,983,893 232,785,469 
Deferred (2,771,835) (685,625) 

 225,212,058 232,099,844 

 
The Company has recognized deferred income tax asset, net amounting P19,456,123 (2018 - P9,215,000) from 
deductible temporary differences.  
 
The reconciliation between the income tax expense computed at the statutory income tax rate to the actual 
income tax expense shown in the statement of total comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 
follows: 
 

 2019 2018 

Income before income tax 772,980,144 790,998,686 

Income tax at statutory tax rate of 30% 231,894,043 237,299,606 
Adjustments to income tax resulting from tax effects of:   

Interest income already subjected to final tax (17,511,236) (2,851,741) 
Non-deductible expenses 3,052,829 38,727 
Others 7,776,422 (2,386,748) 

 225,212,058 232,099,844 

 
13 Salaries and other employee benefits 
 
Details of compensation and fringe benefits expense for the years ended December 31 follow: 
 

 Notes 2019 2018 

Salaries and wages  344,529,208 295,143,166 
Retirement expense 6 9,691,328 12,586,818 
Other employee benefit expenses  6,138,142 5,027,823 

  360,358,678 312,757,807 

 
14 Taxes, licenses and regulatory fees 
 
Details of taxes, licenses and regulatory fees follow: 
 

 2019 2018 

Gross receipts tax 118,864,161 110,974,532 
Examination fees 57,861,049 58,492,750 
Fringe benefits 2,914,135 4,028,404 
Other taxes and fees 1,207,813 4,869,006 

 180,847,158 178,364,692 

 
Other taxes and fees consist of local and municipal taxes, business permits and licenses, and annual registration 
fees. 
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15 Other operating expenses 
 
Details of other operating expenses follow: 
 

 Notes 2019 2018 

Depreciation and amortization expenses 7,8 303,663,153 282,885,926 
Utilities expenses  160,985,409 64,107,724 
Legal and professional fees  8,010,624 10,508,900 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 16 6,336,245 - 
Stationery and supplies  6,326,794 4,864,437 
Promotional and other selling expenses  3,737,432 14,673,086 
Transportation and travel  3,714,207 2,624,365 
Rent expenses  2,093,398 24,248,080 
Miscellaneous expenses  16,643,259 8,310,900 

  511,510,521 412,223,418 

 
Miscellaneous expenses consist of bank charges, membership fees and dues and expenses incurred during staff 
meetings. 
    
16 Leases 
 
Prior to January 1, 2019 (PAS 17) 
 
The Company entered into a lease agreement with the Parent Bank for a period of six (6) months which expired 
on March 31, 2017 and has since been extended on a month-to-month basis until March 15, 2019.  
 
From January 1, 2019 (PFRS 16) 
 
The Company leases office space with the Parent Bank. Rental contract is made for a fixed period of 5 years 
commencing on March 16, 2019 but subject to extension upon mutual agreement of both parties (Note 19.1).  
 
Contract contains both lease and non-lease components. The Company allocates the consideration in the 
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. 
 
Lease terms are negotiated either on a collective or individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms 
and conditions. The lease agreement does not impose any covenants, but leased asset cannot be used as security 
for borrowing purposes. 
 
The statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019 shows the following amounts relating to leases: 
 

 Amount 

Right-of-use assets  
Property and equipment - Office premises 101,675,575 

 101,675,575 

  
Lease liabilities  
Current 19,950,737 
Non-current 80,416,572 

 100,367,309 

 
The lessee’s weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities in 2019 is 7.40%. 
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Movement in lease liabilities is shown below:  
 

 January 1, 2019 Additions  
Principal and interest 

payments December 31, 2019 

Lease liabilities - 120,713,725 20,346,416 100,367,309 

 
The statement of total comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2019 shows the following 
amounts relating to leases: 
 

 Amount 

Depreciation expenses  
Property and equipment 19,127,089 

 19,127,089 

Interest expense 6,336,245 
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in Operating expenses) 2,019,840 
Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in lease liabilities 

(included in Operating expenses) 73,558 

 8,429,643 

 
The total cash outflow for leases as at December 31, 2019 is P20,346,416. 
 
17 Related party transactions 
 
In the normal course of business, the Company transacts with its Parent Bank. These transactions such as deposit 
arrangements and advances for operating expenses are made in the normal operating activities and have terms 
and conditions that are generally comparable to those offered to non-related parties and to similar transactions in 
the market. 
 
Significant related party transactions and outstanding balances as at December 31 are summarized below: 
 

As at and for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 

Transactions for 
the year 

Outstanding balances 
Receivable/(Payable) Terms and conditions 

Parent Bank    
Advances made for Company’s 
expenses 
 

(117,711,392) (70,686,535) - Unsecured 
- Non-interest bearing 
- Payable in cash at gross 

amount on demand 
    

Deposits, net 
Interest income on deposit 

544,709,113 
29,494,630 

2,441,388,773 
   - 

- These are demand deposits 
bearing an average annual 
interest rate of 0.25% 

    
Refundable security deposit - 6,425,184 - Refundable at the end of the 

lease term 
- Unsecured 
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As at and for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 

Transactions for 
the year 

Outstanding balances 
Receivable/(Payable) Terms and conditions 

Parent Bank    
Advances made for Company’s 
expenses 
 

23,162,215 (196,314,956) - Unsecured 
- Non-interest bearing 
- Payable in cash at gross 

amount on demand 
    

Deposits, net 
Interest income on deposit 

695,203,921 
14,696,091 

1,867,185,030 
- 

- These are demand deposits 
bearing an average annual 
interest rate of 0.25% 

    
Refundable security deposit - 6,113,520 - Refundable at the end of the 

lease term 
- Unsecured 

 
18 Financial risk management 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, primarily credit risk and liquidity risk. As risk 
taking is core to the business, an effective risk management process is critical in ensuring that a proper balance 
between risk and return is achieved. 
 
The risk management policies and procedures of the Company are designed to properly identify, measure, 
control, monitor and report the various risks arising from the conduct of its operations, proprietary investing 
activities, and fiduciary and investment management duties. These policies and procedures are expected to 
evolve as the Company’s business grows, as the market structure and regulations change, as new financial 
products are introduced in the market and as management practices are modified.   
 
Board oversight 
 
The Company recognizes that effective risk management is a top-down process that starts with the Board of 
Directors (BOD). The BOD has the ultimate responsibility of providing oversight of the Company’ risk 
management process, which involves establishing strategic direction and providing risk tolerance standards for 
its operations and proprietary investing activities. It is responsible for ensuring that an effective risk 
management process and system are in place at all times and that risks taken are always within the defined 
parameters. The BOD, through the Risk Management Committee, shall also approve and regularly review risk 
management policies, procedures and limits to ensure that these remain consistent with the Company’s 
business and risk management objectives.         
 
Risk management process  
 
The risk management process of the Company has four elements, namely: (a) risk identification, (b) risk 
measurement, (c) risk management/control and (d) risk monitoring and reporting.   
 
Risk identification involves recognizing and understanding the risks faced by the Company in the conduct of its 
operations, proprietary investing activities, and fiduciary and investment management duties.  It also involves 
determining the appetite and tolerance of the institution (as defined by the BOD through the Risk Management 
Committee) for such risks.   
 
Risk measurement involves applying measurement techniques or models to quantify identified risks.  After risks 
are identified and measured, risk control processes and limits in line with the risk tolerance standards of the 
Company are established. Actual risk exposures are then monitored and compared against these limits and 
results are communicated to the BOD and the Risk Management Committee through the generation of reports. 
 
18.1 Market risk  
 
Considering the components of the financial assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2019, the Company is not 
significantly exposed to market risk. 
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In accordance with BSP regulations, the Company shall not engage in any proprietary trading and speculative 
investing activities. Proprietary assets owned by the Company shall be for the purpose of engaging in the trust 
business and investment management activities and for maintaining the minimum capital requirement and 
basic security deposit requirement. 
 
18.2 Credit risk 
 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, trust and other receivables, as well as credit exposure from refundable security deposit. The Company’s 
exposure arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the fair value of these 
financial assets. 
 
To minimize credit risk, the Company transacts only with counterparties with good credit standing. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2019 amounting to P2,441,420,393  
(2018 - P1,867,217,509) are deposited with top universal banks in the Philippines and are assessed to be 
performing (Stage 1) (Note 2). Accordingly, management has assessed that credit risk is deemed minimal. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
 
The Company’s financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income pertain to Philippine 
government treasury bills and are considered fully performing (Stage 1) (Note 3). These securities are rated 
“BBB+” with a “stable” outlook by Standard & Poor’s as at December 31, 2019 and 2018. Based on this credit 
rating, management has deemed that the expected credit loss (ECL) provision is insignificant for financial 
reporting purposes. 
 
Trust and other receivables 
 
The Company applies the simplified approach, as permitted by PFRS 9, in measuring expected credit losses 
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for trust and other receivables. 
  
To measure the expected credit losses, trust and other receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of receivables 
over a period of 24 months before December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively, and corresponding historical credit 
losses experienced within these periods. The forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors are 
considered insignificant in calculating impairment of trust and other receivables. 
 
As at December 31, 2019, all of the trust and other receivables amounting to P334,216,194  
(2018 - P349,783,596) are considered current or fully performing. Likewise, there was no history of default or 
missed payment or write-offs during the observation period used for ECL measurement purposes. 
 
Refundable deposits 
 
As at December 31, 2019, deposits amounting to P6,529,184 (December 31, 2018 - P6,113,520) in connection 
with the lease of the Company’s office space are refundable at the end of the lease term (Note 16). 
 
None of the financial assets, that are considered fully performing as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, has been 
renegotiated. 
 
18.3 Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may not be able to generate sufficient resources to settle its 
obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous. Working 
capital requirements are reviewed on a monthly basis through projection of cash flows from the Company’s 
operating, investing, and financing activities. 
 



 

BPI ASSET MANAGEMENT AND TRUST CORPORATION 72 

 

2
0
1
9
 A

n
n

u
a

l 
R

e
p

o
rt

  

The Company manages liquidity through reporting of liquidity risk exposures, monitoring compliance with 
liquidity risk policy and review of liquidity risk policy for pertinence and changing environment. 
 
All financial assets and liabilities of the Company are classified as current, i.e. they are expected to be realized 
within twelve months from the reporting date. 
 
18.4 Capital risk management 
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  
 
The Company complies with the minimum paid-in capital required by Section 5 of Circular No. 710,  
Series of 2011 of the BSP upon approval to establish the trust corporation.  
 
As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the total paid-in capital of the Company is P1,502,066,145. 
 
Total capital being managed by the Company is its total equity as shown in the statement of financial position. 
 
As at December 31, 2019, the Company’s equity amounts to P3,480,479,688 (2018 - P2,943,056,974).  
 
The Company, being authorized to engage in trust and other fiduciary business, is also required under Section 
4413Q of the Memorandum of Regulations for Non-Bank Financial Institutions of BSP to appropriate before the 
declaration of dividends, at least 10% of its net profits realized out of its trust, investment management and other 
fiduciary business since the last preceding dividend declaration until the retained earnings shall amount to 20% 
of the authorized capital of the Company and no part of such retained earnings shall at any time be paid out in 
dividends but losses accruing in the course of its business may be charged against surplus. Accordingly, the 
Company appropriated an amount of P53,745,935 for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018 - P57,197,196) 
bringing the total reserves for trust business to P199,243,131 (2018 - P145,497,196). 
 
18.5 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
The Company ranks its financial instruments based on the hierarchy of valuation techniques required by  
PFRS 13, which is determined based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or 
unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs 
reflect the Company’s market assumptions.  These two types of inputs lead to the following fair value hierarchy: 
 
Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 
 
Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
 
This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available.  The Company considers relevant and 
observable market prices in its valuations where possible. 
 
The Company’s financial instruments are principally short-term in nature or have interest rates that periodically 
reset at market rates. Accordingly, the estimated fair value does not significantly differ from carrying value for 
each major category of the Company’s recorded financial assets and liabilities.  
 
The fair values of Philippine government treasury bills under financial assets at FVOCI are classified under Level 
2 as at December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
 
19  Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments 
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The Company makes estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities.  Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  It 
is reasonably possible that the outcomes within the next financial year could differ from assumptions made at 
end of the reporting period and could result in adjustment to the carrying amount of affected assets or liabilities. 
 
19.1 Critical accounting judgments 
 
Recognition of deferred income tax assets (Note 9) 
 
The recognition of deferred income taxes depends on management’s assessment of the probability of available 
future taxable income against which the temporary difference can be applied. 
 
The Company reviews at the end of each reporting period the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets.  The 
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reduced to the extent that the related tax assets cannot be utilized due 
to insufficient taxable profit against which the deferred tax losses will be applied.  The Company believes that 
sufficient taxable profit will be generated to allow all of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. 
 
Classification of investment securities (Note 3) 
 
The Company follows the guidance of PFRS 9 in classifying financial assets at initial recognition whether it will 
be subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, at amortized cost, or at fair value 
through profit or loss. The Company determines the classification based on the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets and on the business model it uses to manage these financial assets. The 
Company determines whether the contractual cash flows associated with the financial assets are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
Determining the lease term (Note 16) 
 
Extension and termination options are included in the lease of the Company. This is used to maximize 
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Company’s operations. The extension and 
termination options held are exercisable only by the Company and not by the respective lessor.  
 
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods 
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended 
(or not terminated). The Company considers the factors below as the most relevant in assessing the options: 
 

• If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Company is typically reasonably certain 
to extend (or not terminate).  

• If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Company is typically 
reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).  

• Otherwise, the Company considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs and 
business disruption required to replace the leased asset. 
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19.2  Critical accounting estimates 
 

Impairment of trust and other receivables (Note 4) 

 
Under PFRS 9, the measurement of the expected credit loss (ECL) allowance for financial assets measured at 
amortized cost and fair value through other comprehensive income is an area that requires the use of complex 
models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behavior (e.g. the likelihood 
of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). 
 
A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring 
ECL, such as: 
 

• Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 

• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 

• Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product and 
the associated ECL; and 

• Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. 
 
The Company measures ECL using probability of default, exposure at default and loss given default. 
Management consider both historical analysis and forward looking information in determining any expected 
credit loss.  Management consider the probability of default to be close to zero as the counterparties have a 
strong capacity to meet their contractual obligation in the near term. As a result, no loss allowance has been 
recognized based on 12-month expected credit losses as any such impairment would be insignificant to the 
Company as at December 31, 2018.  
 
As at December 31, 2019, expected credit loss amounting to P5,125,278 (2018 - P466,204) is considered by 
management to be insignificant, hence, the trust and other receivables amounting P339,341,472  
(2018 - P350,249,800) is deemed fully recoverable. 
 
Determining the incremental borrowing rate (Note 16) 
 
Where third party financing cannot be obtained, the Company uses the government bond yield, adjusted for the 
(1) credit spread specific to the Company and (2) security using the right-of-use asset. 
 
20 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to both years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
20.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRSs).  The term PFRSs in general includes all applicable PFRSs, Philippine Accounting Standards 
(PAS) and interpretations of the Philippine Interpretations Committee (PIC), Standing Interpretations Committee 
(SIC) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) which have been approved by the 
Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) and adopted by the SEC. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation 
of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with PFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 19.  
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Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 
 
(a)  New standard and interpretation to existing standard adopted by the Company 
 
The following new standard and interpretation to existing standard have been adopted by the Company effective 
January 1, 2019: 
 

PFRS 16, ‘Leases’ 
 
PFRS 16 replaces the guidance of PAS 17 that relate to the accounting by lessees and the recognition of almost 
all leases on the balance sheet. PFRS 16 removes the current distinction between operating and financing leases 
and requires recognition of an asset (the right-of-use asset) and a lease liability to pay rentals for virtually all 
lease contracts. Under PFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the 
use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
 
On adoption of PFRS 16 following the modified retrospective approach, the Company recognized lease liabilities 
and right-of-use assets in relation to leases which had previously been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the 
principles of PAS 17. These liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, 
discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate in 2019. 
 
The associated right-of-use assets for property leases were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, 
adjusted by the amount of prepaid lease payment of P6,529,184. 
 
In applying PFRS 16 for the first time, the Company has used the following practical expedients permitted by 
the standard:  

• the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at January 1, 2019 
as short-term leases 

• the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial 
application 

• the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or 
terminate the lease 

• apply the provisions of PFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying PAS 17, 
‘Leases’ and IFRIC 4, ‘Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease’.  

 
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019) 
 
It has been clarified previously that PAS 12, not PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets, applies to accounting for uncertain income tax treatments. IFRIC 23 explains how to recognize and 
measure deferred and current income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. 
 
An uncertain tax treatment is any tax treatment applied by an entity where there is uncertainty over whether 
that treatment will be accepted by the tax authority. For example, a decision to claim a deduction for a specific 
expense or not to include a specific item of income in a tax return is an uncertain tax treatment if its acceptability 
is uncertain under tax law. IFRIC 23 applies to all aspects of income tax accounting where there is an uncertainty 
regarding the treatment of an item, including taxable profit or loss, the tax bases of assets and liabilities, tax 
losses and credits and tax rates.  
 
The adoption of the above interpretation did not have a material impact on the financial statements of the 
Company as it has no uncertain tax position. 
 
Other standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which are effective for the financial year 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019 are considered not relevant to the Company’s financial statements. 
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(b)  New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted 
 
The following amendments are not mandatory for December 31, 2019 reporting period and have not been early 
adopted by the Company: 
 

• Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements and PAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors  

• Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations 

• Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 
 

The adoption of the above amendments is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements of 
the Company. 
 

20.2 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash includes deposits held at call with a bank.  These are carried in the statement of financial position at face 
amount or at nominal amount. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less and are subject to an 
insignificant risk of change in value.  
 

20.3 Financial instruments  
 

Initial recognition and measurement 
  
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade date, 
the date on which the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
  
At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, 
in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that 
are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, 
such as fees and commissions.    
 

20.3.1 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 
 
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: at fair value through profit 
or loss (FVTPL), fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and at amortized cost. 
 
The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below: 
 
Debt instruments 
 
Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s 
perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in 
factoring arrangements without recourse. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on the Company’s business model for 
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. 
 
Based on these factors, the Company classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement 
categories: 
 

• Amortized cost 
 
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments 
of principal and interest (SPPI), and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at amortized cost. The 
carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any ECL allowance recognized and measured. Interest income 
from these financial assets is included in “Interest income” using the effective interest rate method. 
Amortized cost financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trust and other receivables, and 
refundable deposits. 
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• FVOCI 
 
Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the 
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVTPL, 
are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive 
income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange 
gains and losses, if any, on the instrument’s amortized cost which are recognized in the statement of total 
comprehensive income. When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Interest income from 
these financial assets is included in “Interest income” using the effective interest rate method. 
 
The Company’s debt instrument amounting to P491,245,850 as at December 31, 2019  
(2018 - P349,399,689) is classified at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 

• FVTPL 
 
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on 
a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL and is not part of a hedging relationship is 
recognized in profit or loss and presented in the statement of total comprehensive income within “Trading 
gain on securities” in the period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were 
designated at fair value or which are not held for trading, in which case these are presented separately.  
 
The Company does not hold debt instruments at FVTPL as at December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

 
Business model: The business model reflects how the Company manages the assets in order to generate cash 
flows. That is, whether the Company’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or 
is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is 
applicable, then the financial assets are classified as part of ‘other’ business model and measured at FVTPL. 
Factors considered by the Company in determining the business model for a group of assets include past 
experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and 
reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are 
compensated.  
 
SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash 
flows and sell, the Company assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments 
of principal and interest (the ‘SPPI test’). In making this assessment, the Company considers whether the 
contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration 
for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a 
basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are 
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL. 
 
The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets 
changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. Such 
changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the period. 
 
Equity instruments 
 
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is, 
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the 
issuer’s net assets.  
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The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at FVTPL, except where the Company’s 
management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at FVOCI. The 
Company’s policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes 
other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses are recognized 
in other comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, even on disposal. 
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately from other changes in fair 
value. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognized in profit or loss as 
other income when the Company’s right to receive payments is established. Gains and losses on equity 
investments at FVTPL are included in other income in the statement of total comprehensive income. 
 
The Company does not hold any equity instruments as at December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
20.3.2 Impairment of financial assets 

 
The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its debt instrument assets carried at 
fair value through other comprehensive income and amortized cost. The Company recognizes a loss allowance 
for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects: 
 

• An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; 

• The time value of money; and 

• Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date 
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

 
Credit impaired financial assets  
 
Financial assets are assessed for credit impairment at each reporting date and more frequently when 
circumstances warrant further assessment. Evidence of credit-impairment may include indications that the 
debtor is experiencing significant financial difficulty, probability of bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization, as well as measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows evidenced by the adverse 
changes in the payments status of the debtor or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. An asset that 
is in Stage 3 will move back to Stage 2 when, as at reporting date, it is no longer considered to be credit-impaired. 
The asset will transfer back to Stage 1 when its credit risk at the reporting date is no longer considered to have 
increased significantly from initial recognition, and when there is sufficient evidence to support full collection 
of principal and interest due. Prior to the transfer to Stage 1, the asset should have exhibited both the 
quantitative and qualitative indicators of probable collection.  
 
When a financial asset has been identified as credit-impaired, expected credit losses are measured as the 
difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the instrument’s original effective interest rate. 
 
When a financial asset is credit impaired, interest ceases to be recognized on the regular accrual basis, which 
accrues income based on gross carrying amount of the asset. Rather, interest income is calculated by applying 
the original effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the asset, which is the gross carrying amount less 
related allowance for impairment. Following impairment, interest income is recognized on the unwinding of the 
discount from the initial recognition of impairment. 
 
20.3.3 Derecognition 
 
Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows 
from the assets have ceased, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Company transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Company neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Company has not retained control. Related gains 
and losses realized at the time of derecognition are recognized within Net gains (losses) on financial assets in 
the statement of total comprehensive income. 
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20.4 Financial liabilities 
 
20.4.1 Classification, recognition and measurement  
 
The Company classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories: (a) at FVTPL and (b) financial liabilities 
at amortized cost.  As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company has only financial liabilities classified as 
financial liabilities at amortized cost. 
 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost pertain to issued financial instruments that are not classified or designated 
at fair value through profit or loss and contain contract obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset to the 
holder or to settle the obligation other than the exchange of a fixed amount of cash. Financial liabilities at 
amortized cost include due to Parent Bank and other liabilities (excluding taxes payable) in the statement financial 
position. 
 
20.4.2 Derecognition  
 
Financial liabilities are derecognized when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished (i.e. when the 
obligation is discharged or is cancelled or expires). 
 
20.5 Offsetting of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on 
future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or 
bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty. 
 
As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, no financial assets and liabilities have been offset. 
 
20.6 Property and equipment 
 
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of an asset which comprises its purchase price, import 
duties and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended 
use. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during 
the financial year in which they are incurred.  
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost or residual values over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets as follows: 
 

Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years 
Transportation equipment 5 years 

 
Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related asset.  The assets’ residual values 
and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. Assets are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell or value in use. 
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An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included 
in profit or loss in the period the item is derecognized. 
 
20.7 Intangible asset 
 
Intangible asset from the acquisition of contractual customer relationships is capitalized on the basis of the 
carrying amount in the books of the Parent Bank as at date of transfer, and is accounted for under the cost 
model. The measurement basis as at transfer date was in accordance with the applicable accounting standard 
for transfer of non-cash asset between parties under common interest. The cost of the asset is amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the remaining useful life as at date of transfer of 3.25 years. In addition, the intangible 
asset is subject to impairment testing, as the need arises.  
 
20.8 Prepaid expenses and other non-financial assets 

 

Prepaid expenses are recognized in the event that payment has been made in advance of when the service is 

actually rendered. Prepaid expenses are initially measured at nominal amounts which are equal to the amount 

of cash paid. Prepayments are derecognized through amortization over a period of time.  

 

Other non-financial assets consist of excess input value-added tax and creditable withholding tax payments 

which are recognized as assets to the extent that it is probable that the benefits will flow to the Company. These 

are derecognized when there is a legally enforceable right to apply the recognized amounts against the related 

income tax due as prescribed by applicable laws. 
 
20.9 Accrued expenses and other liabilities 
 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities are recognized in the period in which the related money, goods or services 
are received or when a legally enforceable claim against the Company is established. 
 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities are derecognized upon settlement, or when discharged, cancelled or expired. 
 
20.10 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Assets that have definite useful lives are subject to depreciation or amortization and are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount which is calculated at the higher of the asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. 
For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).  Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of impairment at each reporting date. 
 
20.11 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when: (a) the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events; (b) it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and (c) 
the amount has been reliably estimated.  Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of 
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the obligation.  The increase in provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense. 
 
Provisions are derecognized when the obligation is settled, cancelled or has expired. 
 
20.12 Share capital; Additional paid-in capital; Reserve for trust business 
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Common shares are classified as share capital under equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax.  Proceeds or consideration in 
excess of par value of shares, if any, are credited to additional paid-in capital. 
 
Reserve for trust business represents the appropriation made by the Company in compliance with the BSP 
regulation. An institution authorized to engage in trust and other fiduciary business shall, before the declaration 
of dividends, carry to retained earnings appropriated for trust business at least ten percent (10%) of its net income 
realized out of its trust, investment management and other fiduciary business since the last preceding dividend 
declaration until the retained earnings appropriated shall amount to twenty percent (20%) of its authorized capital 
stock. 

 
20.13 Revenue recognition 
 
The Company recognizes revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies a performance obligation by transferring 
a promised good or service to a customer (i.e. an asset). An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains 
control of that asset. 
 
The recognition of revenue can be either over time or at a point in time depending on when the performance 
obligation is satisfied.  
 
When control of a good or service is transferred over time, that is, when the customer simultaneously receives 
and consumes the benefits, the Company satisfies the performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time. 
Otherwise, revenue is recognized at the point in time of transfer of control of the good or service to the customer.  
 
Variable consideration is measured using either the expected value method or the most likely amount method 
depending on which method the Company expects to better predict the amount of consideration to which it will 
be entitled. This is the estimated amount of variable consideration, or the portion, if any, of that amount for 
which it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not 
occur. Where there is a single performance obligation, the transaction price is allocated in its entirety to that 
performance obligation. Where there are multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to 
the performance obligation to which it relates based on stand-alone selling prices. 
 
The Company recognizes revenue based on the rate/price specified in the service agreement and is only 
recognized to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur.  
 
The Company does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised 
goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the 
Company does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money. 
 
There are no warranties and other similar obligation and refunds agreed with customers. 
 
Trust income and commission income is recognized in the statement of total comprehensive income based on 
agreed terms and conditions. 
 
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis using the effective interest rate method, gross of 
applicable taxes. 
 
20.14 Expenses 
 
Expenses are recognized when incurred. 
 
20.15 Leases - Company as lessee 
 
Until December 31, 2018, leases of office space, furniture and fixtures, equipment and vehicles, as applicable, 
were classified as either finance leases or operating leases. From January 1, 2019, the Company recognizes leases 
as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use. 
 
From January 1, 2019 (PFRS 16) 
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Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The interest expense is 
recognized in profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the lease term of 
five (5) years on a straight-line basis. 
 
i. Measurement of lease liabilities 
 
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments: 
 

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable 

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate 

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees 

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option 

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option 
 
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement 
of the liability. 
 
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, which is generally the case for the Company’s leases, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is 
used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar 
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions. 
 
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company: 
 

• uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held for 
entities which do not have recent third party financing, and 

• makes adjustments specific to the lease (i.e. term, currency and security). 
 
Lease payments are allocated between principal and interest expense. The interest expense is charged to profit 
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period. 
 
ii. Measurement of right-of-use assets 
 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 
 

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability, 

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received, 

• any initial direct costs, and 

• restoration costs. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term of five (5) years on a straight-line basis. If the Company 
is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying 
asset’s useful life. 
 
iii. Extension and termination options 
 
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods 
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended 
(or not terminated). The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the 
Company becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is revised only 
if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is 
within the control of the lessee.  
 
iv. Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
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Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis 
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.  
Low-value assets comprise of IT and computer equipment. 
 
Prior to January 1, 2019 (PAS 17) 
 
i. Operating lease 
 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by another party, the 
lessor, are classified as operating leases. Payments, including prepayments, made under operating leases (net 
of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to operating expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, 
any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognized as an expense in the period in 
which the termination takes place.  
 
ii. Finance lease 
 
Leases of assets, where the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as 
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the lower of the fair value of 
the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated 
between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. 
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 
 
20.16 Income taxes 
 
Current income tax 
 
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax.  Tax is recognized in profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this 
case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end 
of the reporting period.  
 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which the applicable 
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
 
Deferred income tax 
 
Deferred income tax is recognized using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  The deferred income tax 
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a 
business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss.  
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 
losses (net operating loss carryover or NOLCO) and unused tax credits (excess minimum corporate income tax 
or MCIT) to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilized. The Company re-assesses at the end of 
each reporting period the need to recognize a previously unrecognized deferred income tax asset.  
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized in full for all taxable temporary differences in full for all taxable 
temporary differences.  
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there 
is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
 
20.17 Employee benefits 
 
(a) Short-term benefits 
 
The Company recognizes a liability net of amount already paid and an expense for services rendered by 
employees during the accounting period. Short-term benefits given by the Company to its employees include 
salaries and wages, social security contributions, short-term compensated absences and bonuses, and non-
monetary benefits.  
 
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and recognized as expense 
when the related service is provided. 
 
(b) Defined benefit retirement plan 
 
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive 
on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. 
 
The amount recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plan is the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets.  The defined 
benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.  The 
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows 
using interest rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be 
paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. If the resulting 
difference is a pension asset, the asset ceiling is being observed. The asset ceiling is the present value of any 
economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the 
plan. 
 
Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions 
are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  
 
Past-service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
(c) Defined contribution retirement plan 
 
The Company also maintains a defined contribution plan that covers certain full-time employees. Under its 
defined contribution plan, the Company pays fixed contributions based on the employees’ monthly salaries. The 
Company, however, is covered under RA No. 7641, otherwise known as ‘The Philippine Retirement Pay Law’, 
which provides for its qualified employees a defined benefit minimum guarantee. The defined benefit minimum 
guarantee is equivalent to a certain percentage of the monthly salary payable to an employee at normal 
retirement age with the required credited years of service based on the provisions of RA No. 7641. Accordingly, 
the Company accounts for its retirement obligation under the higher of the defined benefit obligation relating 
to the minimum guarantee and the obligation arising from the defined contribution plan.  
 
For the defined benefit minimum guarantee plan, the liability is determined based on the present value of the 
excess of the projected defined benefit obligation over the projected defined contribution obligation at the end 
of the reporting period. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by a qualified independent actuary 
using the projected unit credit method. The Company determines the net interest income (expense) on the net 
defined benefit asset (liability) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit 
obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit asset (liability) then, taking into 
account any changes in the net defined benefit asset (liability) during the period as a result of contributions and 
benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to the defined benefit plan are recognized in 
the statement of total comprehensive income. 
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The defined contribution liability is measured at the fair value of the defined contribution assets upon which the 
defined contribution benefits depend, with an adjustment for margin on asset returns, if any, where this is 
reflected in the defined contribution benefits.  
 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from the remeasurements of the net defined contribution liability are 
recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. 
 
(d) Bonus plans 
 
The Company recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes into consideration 
the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholder after certain adjustments.  The Company recognizes a 
provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. 
 
20.18 Foreign currency transactions and translation 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Company operates (the functional currency).  The financial statements are 
presented in Philippine Peso, which is the functional currency of the Company. 
 
Transactions and balances 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost and denominated in a 
foreign currency are translated at exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition. 
 
20.19 Related party relationship and transactions 
 
Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly, or indirectly through one or 
more intermediaries, the other party or exercises significant influence over the other party in making financial and 
operating decisions. Such relationship also exists between and/or among entities which are under common control 
with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting enterprises and their key management 
personnel, directors, or shareholders. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed 
to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form. 
 
20.20 Events after the reporting date 

 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at the reporting date 
(adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events 
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when material. 
 
21 Supplementary information required by the BSP 
 
Below is the additional information required by Section 13 Subsection 4190T.4 of the Manual of Regulations for 
Non-Bank Financial Institutions.  The supplementary information is presented for BSP reporting purposes and 
is not required in the basic financial statements. 
 
(i) Basic quantitative indicators of financial performance 
 

 2019 2018 

Return on average equity 17.14 25.29 
Return on average assets 15.45 21.80 
Percentage of trust fees to total assets under management 0.30 0.34 

 
The calculation above is based on the prescribed formulas under Annex C of Subsection 4190T.4. 
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(ii) Total outstanding investment, loans and other credit accommodations to Directors, Officers, all 

Stockholders and their Related Interests (DOSRI) 
 
Details of DOSRI balances: 

 

 2019 2018 

Bank of the Philippine Islands   
Deposits in banks 1,941,388,773 1,367,185,030 
Time deposits 500,000,000 500,000,000 
Refundable security deposit 6,529,184 6,113,520 

 2,447,917,957 1,873,298,550 

 
All balances with DOSRI are unsecured and are fully performing. 
 
(iii) Large exposures 
 

      2019 2018 

Bank of the Philippine Islands    
   Cash and cash equivalents  2,441,388,773 1,867,185,030 
   Refundable security deposit  6,529,184 6,113,520 

  2,447,917,957 1,873,298,550 

Philippine Government    
   Treasury bills  491,245,850 349,399,689 

 
Large exposures refer to exposures to counterparty or a group of related counterparties equal or greater than 
five percent (5%) of the Company’s combined capital account. Combined capital accounts shall mean the total 
capital stock, retained earnings, and profit and loss summary, net of (a) unbooked allowance for probable losses 
(which includes allowance for credit losses and impairment losses) on the allowable proprietary assets and (b) 
such other capital adjustments as may be required by the BSP. 
 
(iv) Nature and amount of contingencies  
 
There are no contingencies and commitments arising from off-balance sheet items. 
 
(v) Aggregate amount of secured liabilities and assets pledged as security 
 
The Company does not have assets pledged as security for secured liabilities. 
 
22 Supplementary information required by the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) 
 
Below is the additional information required by Revenue Regulations No. 15-2010.  This information is 
presented for purposes of filing with the BIR and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
 
(i) Documentary stamp tax 
 
There were no documentary stamp taxes paid for the year 2019. 
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(ii) Withholding taxes  
 
Withholding taxes paid/accrued and/or withheld for the year ended December 31, 2019 consist of: 
 

  Paid     Accrued  Amount 

Tax on compensation and benefits 66,128,127 5,539,590 71,667,717 
Expanded/creditable withholding taxes 41,457,222 12,011,965 53,469,187 
Final withholding taxes 9,459,888 104,005 9,563,893 
Fringe benefits tax 1,472,613 1,441,522 2,914,135 
Business taxes 5,023,274 352,366 5,375,640 

 123,541,124 19,449,448 142,990,572 

 
(iii) All other local and national taxes 
 
All other local and national taxes paid for the year ended December 31, 2019 consist of: 
 

  Paid     Accrued  Amount 

Gross receipts tax 89,403,021 29,461,140 118,864,161 
City license 77,035 - 77,035 
Barangay clearance 5,070 - 5,070 
Mayor’s permit 5,000 - 5,000 
Municipal fees 7,960 - 7,960 
Others 44,165 - 44,165 

Total 89,542,251 29,461,140 119,003,391 

 
These local and national taxes are lodged under Taxes, licenses and regulatory fees in the statement of total 
comprehensive income. 
 
(iv) Tax assessments   
 
The Company does not have any deficiency tax assessments as at December 31, 2019. 
 
(v) Tax cases 
 
The Company is not a party on any tax cases as at December 31, 2019. 
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